
 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of  

East Sussex County Council 

on Tuesday, 9 July 2024 

at 10.00 am 

 
 
 
 
NOTE: As part of the County Council’s drive to increase accessibility to its public meetings, this 
meeting will be broadcast live on its website and the record archived. The live broadcast is 
accessible at: www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default 
 

http://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default


 



 

EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
To the Members of the County Council  
 
You are summoned to attend a meeting of the East Sussex County Council to be held at Council 
Chamber, County Hall, Lewes, on Tuesday, 9 July 2024 at 10.00 am to transact the following 
business 
 
 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 7 May 2024  (Pages 5 - 20) 

 
2.   Apologies for absence   

 
3.   Chairman's business   

 
4.   Questions from members of the public   

 
5.   Report of the Cabinet  (Pages 21 - 38) 

 
6.   Cabinet priorities for the forthcoming year   

 
7.   Report of the Governance Committee  (Pages 39 - 44) 

 
8.   Questions from County Councillors   

 
a) Oral questions to Cabinet Members 
b) Written questions of which notice has been given pursuant to Standing Order 44 
 

9.   Report of the East Sussex Fire Authority  (Pages 45 - 50) 
 

 
 

Note: There will be a period for collective prayers and quiet reflection in the Council 
Chamber from 9.30 am to 9.45 am. The prayers will be led by the  Prayers will be 
delivered by: Reverend Danny Pegg, Associate Vicar for Mission & Discipleship, St Mary's 
Church, Church Street, Willingdon. The Chairman would be delighted to be joined by any 
members of staff and Councillors who wish to attend. 
 
County Hall  
St Anne's Crescent  
LEWES  

East Sussex BN7 1UE  

 
 
PHILIP BAKER 
Assistant Chief Executive 1 July 2024 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

MINUTES 

 

EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

MINUTES of a MEETING of the EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL held at Council 
Chamber, County Hall, Lewes on 7 MAY 2024 at 10.00 am 

 

Present    Councillors Sam Adeniji, Abul Azad (Vice-Chairman), 
Matthew Beaver, Colin Belsey, Nick Bennett, Bob Bowdler, 
Chris Collier, Anne Cross, Godfrey Daniel, Johnny Denis, 
Penny di Cara, Chris Dowling, Claire Dowling, Kathryn Field, 
Gerard Fox, Roy Galley (Chairman), Nuala Geary, 
Keith Glazier, Alan Hay, Julia Hilton, Ian Hollidge, 
Stephen Holt, Johanna Howell, Eleanor Kirby-Green, 
Carolyn Lambert, Tom Liddiard, Philip Lunn, 
James MacCleary, Wendy Maples, Sorrell Marlow-Eastwood, 
Carl Maynard, Matthew Milligan, Steve Murphy, 
Sarah Osborne, Peter Pragnell, Paul Redstone, 
Christine Robinson, Pat Rodohan, Phil Scott, Daniel Shing, 
Stephen Shing, Alan Shuttleworth, Bob Standley, 
Colin Swansborough, Georgia Taylor, John Ungar and 
Brett Wright. 

 

1. To elect a Chairman of the County Council  

Councillor Pragnell (Chairman of the County Council) in the Chair. 

1.1 The following motion was moved by Councillor Glazier and seconded – 

‘To elect Councillor Galley to serve as Chairman of the County Council for the ensuing 
year’.  

1.2 The following motion was moved by Councillor Robinson and seconded – 

‘To elect Councillor Daniel to serve as Chairman of the County Council for the ensuing 
year’. 

1.3 The Council agreed to vote by a show of hands. Following the vote, the Chairman 
declared Councillor Galley appointed as the Chairman of the County Council for the ensuing 
year. Councillor Galley made a declaration of acceptance of office and took his seat as 
Chairman. 

Councillor Galley in the Chair 

1.4 The Chairman thanked the Council for electing him as Chairman.  

1.5 The Chairman, Leader of the Council and other Members paid tribute to the way in 
which Councillor Pragnell had carried out his duties as Chairman of the County Council over the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



MINUTES 

 

 

past year, acting as an ambassador for the County, hosting and attending a number of 
engagements and ensuring the work of the Council was recognised in communities within and 
outside East Sussex. The Chairman presented Councillor Pragnell with the past Chairman’s 
badge. 

2. To appoint a Vice Chairman of the County Council  

2.1 The following motion was moved by Councillor Glazier and seconded – 

‘To appoint Councillor Azad to serve as Vice Chairman of the County Council for the 
ensuing year’.  

2.2 The following motion was moved by Councillor Denis and seconded – 

‘To appoint Councillor Cross to serve as Vice Chairman of the County Council for the 
ensuing year’. 

2.3 The Council agreed to vote by a show of hands. Following the vote, the Chairman 
declared Councillor Azad appointed as Vice Chairman of the County Council for the ensuing 
year. Councillor Azad made a declaration of acceptance of office and took his seat as Vice 
Chairman. 

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2024  

3.1 RESOLVED – to confirm as a correct record the minutes of the County Council held on 6 
February 2024. 

4. Apologies for absence  

4.1 Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors David Tutt and Trevor 
Webb. 

5. Chairman's business  

FORMER COUNCILLOR PAM BROWN 

5.1 The Chairman began with the sad news of the death of former Councillor Pam Brown, 
OBE. Pam was elected to the County Council in 1973 and 1980 and served between 1973 to 
1977 and 1980 to 1997. She was the Chairman of East Sussex Social Services and served as a 
Councillor on Hastings Borough Council. Pam was elected to serve as Mayor of Hastings from 
2004 and 2005 and was twice Leader of Hastings Borough Council. She was also Made 
Honorary Alderman of Hastings, speaker of the Cinque Ports and Chairman of the Housing 
Committee. 

5.2 The Council stood for a moment’s silence as a mark of respect to their former colleague 
Pam Brown. 

PRAYERS  

5.3  The Chairman thanked Father David Hill (Rector of St John’s the Evangelist), for leading 
the prayers before the meeting.  

 

 

Page 6



MINUTES 

 

 

PETITIONS  

5.4  The following petitions were presented before the meeting by Councillors: 

Councillor Bowdler - calling on the County Council to support the construction of a 
permanent school crossing at Punnetts Town Community Primary 
School. 

 

Councillor Cross - calling on the County Council to reduce the speed limit on 
Wellbrook Hill (the 267) between Mayfield and Five Ashes 
villages. 

 

Councillor Osborne - calling on the County Council to take action to make the stretch 
of road from Ditchling to Keymer safer for cyclists and 
pedestrians. 

 

Councillor Osborne - calling on the County Council to scrap the planned single 
carriageway on Station Road, Plumpton Green at the entrance to 
the Nolands Development. 

 

Councillor Ungar - calling on the County Council to provide a zebra crossing on 
Green Street, Eastbourne to be sited between Caffe Corro and 
Cheriton Court, bollards to be erected along the section of Green 
Street, Eastbourne between the Post Office to the end of this run 
of shops and that the road surface of Green Street, Eastbourne to 
be repaired and redressed. 

6. Declarations of Interest 

6.1 There were no declarations of interest.  

7. Reports 

7.1 The Chairman of the County Council, having called over the reports set out in the 
agenda, reserved the following for discussion: 

Governance Committee report – paragraph 2 (Appointment of Members to Committees, Sub-
committees, Panels and other bodies).  

Cabinet report – paragraph 1 (Council Monitoring: Quarter 3 2023/24), and paragraph 2 
(Inspection of East Sussex local authority children’s services).  

NON-RESERVED PARAGRAPHS 

7.2 On the motion of the Chairman of the County Council, the Council adopted those 
paragraphs in the report that had not been reserved for discussion as follows: 

Page 7



MINUTES 

 

 

Governance Committee report – paragraph 1 (Amendment to the Constitution – East Sussex 
Pension Fund), paragraph 3 (Amendment to the Constitution – Health and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) Terms of Reference. 

Standards Committee report – paragraph 1 (Annual report of the Standards Committee). 

8. Record of Delegation of Executive Functions   

8.1 In accordance with the Constitution, Councillor Glazier presented a written record to the 
Council of the appointment of the Deputy Leader and  appointments to the Cabinet, their 
portfolios and his delegation of executive functions. A copy of the Leader’s report is attached to 
these minutes. 

9. Report of the Governance Committee  

Paragraph 2 – Appointments of Members to Committees, Sub- committees, Panels and other 
bodies. 

9.1 Councillor Glazier moved the reserved paragraph in the Governance Committee report.  

9.2 The following amendment to paragraph 2.13 was moved by Councillor Field and 
seconded: 

 (3) allocate the Chair and Vice Chair positions on the committees as set out in the table 
in paragraph 2.12 to Members of the opposition groups.  

9.3 The amendment was LOST. 

9.4 A vote on the original motion moved by Councillor Glazier was taken, and CARRIED.  

10. Appointments to Committees and Sub-Committees  

10.1 Councillor Bennett moved, and it was seconded, that appointments be made to the 
Committees and Sub-Committees, listed in item 8 of the agenda, in accordance with the 
published list of nominations from political groups.  

10.2  The motion was CARRIED. 

11. Appointment of Members to other Committees and Panels  

11.1  Councillor Bennett moved, and it was seconded, that members be appointed to serve on 
the Committees and Panels listed in item 9 of the agenda, in accordance with the political 
balance provisions and the published list of nominations from political groups.  

11.2  The motion was CARRIED. 

12. Confirmation to the continuation of other bodies  

12.1  Councillor Bennett moved, and it was seconded, that the bodies listed in agenda item 10 
be continued, that the political balance provisions shall not apply to these Panels and that 
members be appointed by the Chief Executive as the need arises.  

12.2  The following amendment was moved by Councillor Field and seconded: 

Page 8



MINUTES 

 

 

that the bodies listed in agenda item 10 be continued, that the political balance 
provisions shall not apply to these Panels and that members be appointed by the Chief 
Executive, in consultation with the Leader,  as the need arises. 

12.3 The amendment was voted on and CARRIED. 

12.4 The motion was CARRIED (with no member voting against).  

13. Appointment to the Discretionary Transport Appeal Panel  

13.1  Councillor Bennett moved, and it was seconded, that the political balance provisions 
would not apply to the membership of the Discretionary Transport Appeal Panel and that 
members be appointed in accordance with the published list of nominations from political 
groups.  

13.2  The motion was CARRIED (with no member voting against). 

14. Appointment of Chairs and Vice Chairs  

14.1  The following motion, moved by Councillor Bennett and seconded, was CARRIED:  

To appoint the following members to positions listed below: 

Committee 

 

Chair Vice-Chair 

Regulatory Chris Dowling  

Audit Committee  Swansborough  Fox  

People Scrutiny Committee  Howell  Ungar  

Place Scrutiny Committee  Beaver Hilton  

Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

Belsey  Robinson 

Governance Committee Glazier   

Planning Committee Liddiard Lunn  

Pension Committee Fox  

Standards Committee Belsey   

 

15. Questions from members of the public  

15.1 There were no questions from members of the public. 

16. Report of the Cabinet  

Paragraph 1 (Council Monitoring: Quarter 3 2023/24) 

Page 9



MINUTES 

 

 

16.1 Councillor Bennett moved the reserved paragraph.  

16.2 The paragraph was noted after the debate.  

Paragraph 2 (Inspection of East Sussex local authority children’s services).  

16.3 Councillor Bowdler moved the reserved paragraph.  

16.4 The paragraph was noted after the debate. 

17.  Questions form County Councillors 

17.1 The following members asked questions of the Lead Cabinet Members indicated and 
they responded:  

Questioner Respondent Subject 

Councillor Murphy Councillor Standley Consultation on the merge of 
the STEP Academy schools. 

Councillor Wright Councillor Bennett Council monitoring. 

Councillor Lambert Councillor Claire Dowling Traffic Orders and delays to 
the Exceat bridge project. 

Councillor Daniel Councillor Claire Dowling Tree planting in the County. 

Councillor Daniel Councillor di Cara Water outage and stakeholder 
engagement. 

Councillor Stephen? Shing Councillor Claire Dowling Newly fitted water meters and 
potential trip hazards caused 
through poor installation. 

Councillor Stephen? Shing Councillor Claire Dowling Repairs of outstanding 
potholes. 

 

17.2  Two written questions were received from Councillors Ungar for the Lead Member for 
Education, Inclusion, Special Educations Needs and Disability, and Councillor Lambert for the 
Lead Member for Transport and Environment. The questions and answers are attached to these 
minutes. The Lead Members responded to the supplementary questions. 

 

THE CHAIRMAN DECLARED THE MEETING CLOSED AT 11.38AM 

_________________________ 

The reports referred to are included in the minute book. 

_________________________ 

Page 10



MINUTES 

 

 

Delegations approved by the Leader of the Council – 7 May 2024 

 

(a) names of the County Councillors appointed to the Cabinet 
 

The Cabinet comprises the following members 

 

Portfolio Appointment 

Strategic Management and Economic 

Development  

Councillor Keith Glazier 

Resources and Climate Change Councillor Nick Bennett 

Economy Councillor Penny di Cara 

Transport and Environment Councillor Claire Dowling 

Adult Social Care and Health  Councillor Carl Maynard  

Children and Families (designated statutory Lead 

Member for Children’s Services) 

Councillor Bob Bowdler 

Education and Inclusion, Special Educational 

Needs and Disability 

Councillor Bob Standley 

 
(b) the extent of any authority delegated to cabinet members individually as portfolio holders 
will remain as set out in the Constitution of  the County Council eastsussex.gov.uk/constitution 
or alternatively hard copies are available at County Hall, Lewes (please contact Georgina 
Seligmann – 01273 482355) and below. 

 

In overall terms the areas of responsibility for each portfolio holder includes the following 
(subject to any subsequent amendment by the Leader at his discretion) principal services to be 
interpreted broadly. In accordance with the wishes of the Leader, principal services are not to be 
construed restrictively. In the event of any doubt in connection to a decision made by a Lead 
Member, the Leader confirms that he has delegated full executive authority to that decision 
maker: 

 

 

 

Page 11

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/about/keydocuments/constitution


MINUTES 

 

 

Portfolio Scope 

Strategic Management and 
Economic Development  

 Chairing and managing the executive and its 
work 

 

 Any executive function including overall 
strategy and policy for the Council  

 

 Principal service area responsibilities: 

Communications  

Strategic Economic Planning 

Policy and Performance 

Health and Social Care Integration/Health 
and Wellbeing Board  

Equalities 

South East Seven Partnership 

Transport for South East (SNTB) 

Member Services 

 

all ancillary activities 

Page 12



MINUTES 

 

 

Resources and Climate 
Change 

 Any executive function including strategy and 
policy for all corporate resources matters 

 

 Principal service area responsibilities: 

Financial Management  

Property asset management 

Risk management 

Procurement 

Internal audit 

ICT 

Personnel and Training 

Legal  

Orbis 

Coroner services 

Council lead on Climate Change 

  

all ancillary activities 

Economy 
 Any executive function including strategy and 

policy for all economic development and 
regeneration and all ancillary activities 

 

 Principal service area responsibilities 

Economic Development  

Culture 

Skills (shared with Education) 

all ancillary activities 

Trading Standards 

 

 

Page 13



MINUTES 

 

 

Transport and Environment 
 Any executive function including strategy and 

policy for all Transport and Environmental 
matters 

 

 Principal service area responsibilities: 

Operational services 

Planning and developmental control 

Transport strategy  

Archives and records 

Customer Services 

Emergency Planning 

Gypsies and travellers 

Libraries 

Registration Services 

Road Safety 

Environmental and waste strategy 

all ancillary activities 

 

Adult Social Care and 
Health 

 Any executive function including strategy and 
policy for all Adult Social Care and Public 
Health matters 

 

 Principal service area responsibilities: 

Services for vulnerable adults including older 
people, learning disability, physical disability, 
mental health, public health and all ancillary 
activities 

Community Safety 

Voluntary Sector 

 

Page 14



MINUTES 

 

 

Children and Families 
 Any executive function including overall 

strategy and policy for all Children’s Services 
(social care) matters 

 

 Principal service area responsibilities: 

Child protection and family support 

Fostering and adoption for children 

Residential care for children 

Other aspects of social care for children 

Youth justice  

Youth service  

all ancillary activities 

Education and Inclusion, 
Special Educational Needs 
and Disability 

  

  

 

 Any executive function including strategy and 
policy for all Children’s Services (education) 
matters 

 

 Principal service area responsibilities: 

Quality and standards in educational 
establishments 

Special educational needs  

School admissions and transport 

Early years and childcare 

School organisation and place planning 

Skills (shared with Economy) 

all ancillary activities 

 

 

 

(c)  appointment to the position of Deputy Leader  
 
Councillor Bennett to be appointed Deputy Leader of the County Council 
 
(d) the terms of reference and constitution of the Cabinet and any executive 
committees together with the names of cabinet members appointed to them 
 

Page 15



MINUTES 

 

 

The terms of reference and constitution of the Cabinet and any executive committees will 
remain as currently set out in the Constitution of the Council 

 
(e) the nature and extent of any delegation of executive functions to local 
committees 

There is no delegation of executive functions to local committees 

(f) the nature and extent of any delegation to officers 

 

The delegations of executive functions to Officers will be as set out in the Constitution. The 
delegations to Officers can be viewed via the following link: 

Constitution - Delegations to Officers 

 or alternatively hard copies are available at County Hall, Lewes (please contact Georgina 
Seligmann – 01273 482355) 

 

Urgent Executive Decisions  

 

There were no executive decisions taken during 2023/24 where the making of the decision was 
agreed in accordance with Regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.  

 

 

Councillor Keith Glazier 

Leader of the Council 

Page 16

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/your-council/about/key-documents/constitution#Table%206%20-%20Scheme%20of%20Delegation%20to%20Officers


MINUTES 

 

 

WRITTEN QUESTIONS PURSUANT TO STANDING ORDER 44 

 

1. Question from Councillor John Ungar to the Lead Member for Education 

and Inclusion, Special Educational Needs and Disability 

 

A. How many Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plans were due to be reviewed in 

the last academic year? 

Answer by the Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational 
Needs and Disability 

There were 4,110 active EHCPs at the beginning of the 2022/23 academic year. Over 
the course of the academic year, some of these children will have moved out of county 
or had their plan ceased without review (i.e. if the young person turned 25 or left 
education). Discounting those that moved out of county or ceased without review, 3,796 
reviews were due in the 2022/23 academic year. 

 

B. How many of these reviews were completed within the prescribed timescales? 

Answer by the Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational 
Needs and Disability 

1,686 (44.4%) reviews were completed before or on the due date (i.e. no more than a 
year after the previous review/after the initial EHCP was issued). 

1,735 (45.7%) reviews were completed after the due date (i.e. more than a year after 
the previous review/after the initial EHCP was issued). 

375 (9.9%) reviews were due but had not been completed within the 2022/23 academic 
year. 

 

C. What action was taken if the prescribed timescales were not met in each case? 

Answer by the Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational 
Needs and Disability 

The delays in completion of reviews were for a range of reasons; this included those 
which were not able to be scheduled with all relevant parties before the 12 month 
window. As the LA cannot attend all annual reviews (due to the number of plans we 
maintain), we are hugely reliant on schools and colleges to undertake these on our 
behalf. This adds a level of challenge in ensuring that all are held within the designated 
12 months. We have recently undertaken a comprehensive review of our processes 
around annual reviews to improve our offer. This includes setting up a designated team 
to oversee all annual reviews in priority year groups with a view to not only improving 
compliance, but also in ensuring that EHCPs contain current information in relation to 

Page 17



MINUTES 

 

 

children’s needs that can inform progression to the next stage of education and/or 
employment. 

 

2. Question from Councillor Carolyn Lambert to the Lead Member for 

Transport and Environment 

Many residents are changing from petrol and diesel to electric vehicles.  Whilst 
investment by local authorities in placing charging points in public car parks is 
welcomed it is often difficult, if not impossible, for residents without a driveway to safely 
charge their cars. 

There are now solutions on the market which enable cars to be charged at home whilst 
avoiding the trip hazard caused by trailing cables.  An example is given below: 

Local Authority Pavement Gully | EV Charging | Charge Gully — Charge Gully 

Will the County Council support and encourage residents to implement suitable systems 
to charge their vehicles at their own homes where they do not have access to a 
driveway? 

 

Answer by the Lead Member for Transport and Environment 

It is recognised that as more people are and will choose electric vehicles ahead of the 
end of new petrol and diesel vehicles being sold in 2035.  With that, the ability to charge 
at or close to home will become increasingly important.  This is reflected in our draft 
Local Transport Plan 2024 - 2050 (LTP4) and our emerging EV Charging Strategy, a 
supporting document to LTP4 which will be subject to consultation later this year. 

In February 2024, the County Council secured £4.441m under tranche 1 of the 
Government’s Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) Fund, one of the first five 
authorities in the country to receive our funding.  The LEVI funding will help the county 
council to scale up the delivery of local on street chargepoints, enabling more residents, 
especially those without off-street parking, to switch to EVs. The funding will also be 
used to provide chargepoints on the County Hall campus.  We are working towards 
procuring an on-street chargepoint provider over the coming months and starting to 
deliver on-street chargepoints on the ground later this financial year. 

As you have highlighted, the Government has also recently announced separate grant 
funding that is available to local residents with no off street parking to introduce EV 
chargepoints on their properties. Amongst the conditions of the grant funding, it is clear 
that a resident would need the approval of the local highway authority before any 
pavement cable gully, such as the example you provided, can be installed across the 
pavement. 

Whilst these might look very attractive as a solution to enabling residents to charge their 
electric vehicles parked on-road from their properties, from a highway perspective, there 
are a number of implications that we would need to take into consideration including: 

Page 18

https://www.chargegully.com/local-authorities


MINUTES 

 

 

 the licencing the installation of cable gully channels in the pavement, 

 who owns the pavement cable gully as an asset on the highway, 

 ensuring that the cable gully is safely installed and does not compromise 
pedestrian safety, 

 the liability and maintenance of these gullies, 

 how their introduction affects the commercial viability of potential on-street 
chargepoints delivered using the LEVI funding, and  

 managing expectations that residents who are approved to introduce a cable 
gully would not have the right to park on road directly outside their property. 

The government has notified local authorities that it intends to publish guidance to local 
authorities in the Spring of 2024 regarding the introduction of cross-pavement parking 
solutions such as cable gullies.  Once we receive this guidance, we will then be able to 
fully evaluate whether and how cross pavement solutions can be safely installed and 
operated on our highway network to enable residents to charge their electric vehicles 
parked on-road outside their properties. 

 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

REPORT OF THE CABINET 
 

 
The Cabinet met on 25 June 2024.  Attendees: - 
 
 Councillor Glazier (Chair) 
 Councillors Bennett, Bowdler, di Cara, Claire Dowling, Maynard, and Standley. 
 
 
1. Council Monitoring Q4 2023/24  
 
1.1 The Cabinet has considered a report on the Council’s position and year-end 
projections for the Council Plan targets, Revenue Budget, Capital Programme, and Savings 
Plan, together with Risks at the end of March 2024. 

1.2 Broad progress against the Council’s four strategic priority outcomes is summarised 
from paragraph 1.11 and an overview of finance and performance data is provided in the 
Corporate Summary at Appendix 1. Strategic risks are reported at Appendix 8. 

Overview of Council Plan 2023/24 outturns and strategic risks 

1.3 We set challenging targets each year that reflect our aim to deliver the best services 
we can for our local residents and businesses with the limited resources we have available. 
While there have been a number of successes for our services over the past year, there are 
also areas that have experienced challenges. The Departmental Appendices (3-7) provide 
details of both our achievements and how we are working to improve where targets have not 
been met. 

1.4 Overall 37 (64%) of the 58 Council Plan targets were achieved and 14 (24%) were not 
achieved. 7 (12%) do not have results available yet and are carried over for reporting in 
quarter 1 2024/25. The carry overs are measures where action has been completed, but the 
year-end outturn data is not yet available to report against the target. 

1.5 Of the 58 targets, the outturns for 14 (24%) are not comparable with the outturns from 
2022/23. Of the remaining 44 measures which can be compared, 23 (40%) improved or were 
at the maximum (i.e., the most that can be achieved); 14 (24%) had a lower outturn; and 7 
(12%) do not have results available yet and are carried over for reporting in quarter 1 2024/25. 
Although 14 measures are showing a lower outturn compared with 2022/23, 10 of these met 
their target for 2023/24. 

1.6 The Strategic Risk Register, Appendix 8, was reviewed and updated to reflect the 
Council’s risk profile. Risk 12 (Cyber Attack) has updated risk definition and risk control. Risk 1 
(Roads), Risk 4 (Health), Risk 6 (Local Economic Growth), Risk 9 (Workforce) and Risk 15 
(Climate) have updated risk controls. 

Budget Outturn 

1.7 The details of revenue over and underspends in each department are set out in the 
relevant appendices, and show and show a total overspend of £30.1m. This is an increase of 
£1.0m from quarter 3. The main headlines are: 

 Children’s Services (CSD) is overspent by £30.4m (£28.5m at quarter 3). 

The main area of overspend is in Early Help and Social Care (EH&SC) of £29.8m, an 
increase from quarter 3 of £1.9m.The main pressures are within Looked After Children, 
with lost income due to delays in Lansdowne opening and cost pressures for Agency 
Residential placements, continuing the trend demonstrated this year of a small number of 
children placing high pressure on the budget. The service has worked with IMPOWER to 
support longer term placement sufficiency and identify opportunities for delivering 
improved care placement options for children and young people through the ‘Valuing Care’ 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



CABINET 

approach. The aim of this work is also to identify cost reductions and efficiencies within the 
service. 

There is also an increased overspend of £1.2m within the Home to Schools Transport 
service. There has been an increase in pupil numbers qualifying for transport and contract 
costs have also increased for the new academic year cohort, where they couldn’t be 
added to existing routes. The CSD Team will be working closely with the Communities, 
Economy and Transport service to explore all possible mitigations to reduce costs. 

The CSD overspend will be funded Corporately for 2023/24 as follows: 

Mitigation of CSD Overspend £m 

Forecast overspend (30.1) 

Mitigated by:  

Treasury Management underspend 8.2 

Underspend on Capital Programme 1.8 

Part of underspend on Pensions 0.3 

General Contingency 4.9 

Use of provision for budgetary risks 3.5 

Business Rates Levy surplus 0.9 

Agreed use of COMF 1.3 

Covid-19 General Funding (balance held Corporately) 5.7 

Council Tax Collection Fund Surplus 2.0 

Use of Financial Management Reserve 1.5 

Subtotal Mitigation 30.1 

 

 The outturn for Adult Social Care is an overspend of £2.0m (decrease of £0.001m since 
quarter 3). It comprises an overspend of £2.9m in the Independent Sector due to a number 
of factors including increasing complexity of need, plus pressures arising from demand 
and demographic growth returning to pre-pandemic levels of modelling. This is offset by an 
underspend of £0.9m in Directly Provided Services, mainly being due to staffing vacancies 
which reflects difficulties in recruitment. 

 Communities, Economy and Transport has underspent by £1.7m (£1.3m at quarter 3). The 
largest underspend is £2.0m in Transport and Operations where current market prices 
mean that electricity and recycling income is exceeding expectations in the Waste Service. 
The underspend of £0.4m in Communities is mostly due to staff vacancies in Trading 
Standards and Road Safety with additional income from Emergency Planning training. 
Customer and Libraries have underspent by £0.3m due to staff costs and additional 
income in libraries, and slippage in maintenance at the Keep. 

These are netted against an overspend of £0.6m in Highways due to the estimated 
increased cost of electricity for streetlighting; an overspend of £0.3m in Transport 
Development Control within Planning and Environment due to an increase in speculative 
planning applications for residential developments, which often have challenging transport 
issues that need addressing; and a £0.1m overspend in Economy which is mostly due the 
cost of consultants engaged to help transition SELEP funded projects back into Council 
control. 

 Business Services has an underspend of £0.4m (£0.07m at quarter 2), mainly due to: 
higher staff recharges to Orbis, higher than expected Ukraine funding plus lower 
consultancy and Audit fees within Finance & Business Administration: higher recharges for 
project managers and higher than anticipated licence recharges within IT & Digital. 

 Governance Services has a final underspend of £0.163m (£0.05m overspend at quarter 3). 
The forecast overspend on Coroners (due to costs of mortuary provision, court hire, body 

Page 22



CABINET 

removal, toxicology and staffing, as well as accumulative demands on the service) 
decreased due to a reduction on demand compared to that anticipated. The overspend in 
Corporate Support is due to the cost of covering maternity leave in Legal Services, 
partially offset with staff vacancies elsewhere. 

1.8 Within Treasury Management (TM), Centrally Held Budgets (CHB) and corporate 
funding there is an underspend of £18.6m including the general contingency (£18.5m at 
quarter 3): 

 In CHB there is an underspend of £0.6m for Pensions because of the actuarial revaluation. 
This is offset by an accounting adjustment of £0.6m to reflect the potential risk that 
increasing outstanding debt levels will not be settled. The General Contingency of £4.9m 
will be required in full to offset service overspend. 

 There is an £8.2m underspend on TM, based on a continued improvement in the current 
forecasts for our market investment returns and increased cash balances. The anticipated 
average investment return for the year has increased to 5.39% from the 4.45% assumed 
when the budget was set, based on the latest forecasts from our external treasury 
management advisors. In addition, slippage on the Capital Programme and an increase in 
our cash balances has reduced the need to borrow externally in 2023/24.  

 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy published the revised Treasury 
and Prudential codes in 2021. These require quarterly reporting of performance against 
forward looking prudential indicators. The performance of the Council’s treasury 
management activity against benchmarks and the key indicators in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy, as approved by Full Council on 7 February 2023, are provided at 
Appendix 2. 

 The aforementioned slippage on the Capital Programme has resulted in an underspend of 
£1.8m, where two transfers for Capital Expenditure from Revenue Account have not been 
utilised this financial year. 

 There is a planned £3.5m use of the in-year provision made for budgetary risks to cover 
part of the remaining overspend on service budgets. 

 The £0.9m underspend on Business Rates is mainly due to the Levy Surplus Distribution 
for 2023/24, announced alongside the Local Government Finance Settlement on 5 
February 2024, plus movements in pool monitoring. 

1.9 The Council is still experiencing residual COVID-19 related costs and income losses 
which are being mitigated from general and specific COVID-19 grant funding. The balance of 
COVID-19 General Funding will be used to meet CSD cost pressures. The following table 
shows the use of this funding in 2023/24: 

COVID-19 Grants 2023/24 
(£m) 

Carried 
forward  

Estimated 
use in-year 
(including 
payback*) 

Balance to 
offset CSD 
overspend 

Specific 
set-aside 

for LAC in 
future 
years 

Estimated 
balance 

remaining 

COVID-19 General Funding 9.1 (1.6) (5.7) (1.8) - 

COVID-19 Specific Funding 4.3 (3.9) - - 0.4 

Total funding 13.4 (5.5) (5.7) (1.8) 0.4 

*To date the Council has repaid £2.1m of unused grant. 

1.10 Capital Programme expenditure for the year is £77.5m against a budget of £85.9m, a 
net variation of £8.4m. The main headlines are: 

 Total slippage of £9.6m across a number of projects as the programme continues to 
experience extended lead-in times, and where inflation and material cost increases have 
resulted in the pause and reassessment of a number of projects to ensure delivery within 
budgets, as well as other project specific factors. The largest areas of slippage include the 

Page 23



CABINET 

Highways Structural Maintenance programme (£2.0m), Integrated Transport Schemes 
(£1.1m), Youth Investment Fund project (£0.9m), Bridge Assessment and Strengthening 
(£0.7m), Exceat Bridge Replacement (£0.6m), IT& Digital Programme (£0.6m) and the 
Visibly Better Roads programme (£0.5m). 

 A net overspend of £0.2m, mainly relating to the Bexhill and Hastings Link Road (£0.6m) 
where project costs remain for post excavation archaeology, landscaping, and 
compensation, which is offset to a large extent by various smaller underspends 

 A number of minor spends in advance totalling £1.1m across a number of projects. 

Progress against Council Priorities 

Driving sustainable economic growth 

1.11 The Council has spent £311m with 847 local suppliers over the past 12 months. This is 
64% of our total spend exceeding our target of 60%. We have continued, throughout 2023/24, 
to work with suppliers to maximise the social value delivered by our contracts, with benefits 
that were equal to 31% of the contract values being achieved, against a target of 10% 
(Appendix 4). 

1.12 Work on our highways has taken place in 2023/24, using the additional funding 
approved by the Council in recognition of the deterioration of the network following the last 
prolonged, wet and cold winter. 564 patches across 337 sites were completed. 102 road signs 
have been replaced, with a further 427 signs scheduled to be replaced in 2024/25. Around 
180 drainage schemes have been delivered, including replacing gully covers and clearing 
significant blockages. 117 road improvement schemes were completed in 2023/24 and 29,357 
potholes were repaired (Appendix 6). 

1.13 A number of projects have been implemented in 2023/24 using the £41.4m of funding 
assigned to the Council as part of the Government’s Bus Service Improvement Plan. £13m of 
bus service improvements have begun, including the Flexibus service which covers over 90% 
of East Sussex. £5m is allocated for reduced fares which are scheduled to run until April 2025. 
Improvements to bus stop infrastructure have been made, including the installation of 2,560 
QR code plates, new hard standing areas and the installation of Real Time Information signs 
at a number of stops (Appendix 6). 

1.14 Several programmes have helped people into work or improved their skills in 2023/24. 
These projects included the Multiply programme, which supported 950 people to improve their 
numeracy skills; the Moving on Up and Support into Work schemes which helped 265 
homeless and refugee residents into work; and 65 young people starting work experience 
placements in libraries (Appendix 6). 

1.15 The average Attainment 8 score for state funded schools in East Sussex in academic 
year 2022/23 was 43.6. This is below our target of 46.5 and below the national average of 
46.4. The average Attainment 8 score for disadvantaged pupils in East Sussex was 30.3. This 
is below our target of 33.3 and below the national average of 35.1. The average Attainment 8 
score for Looked After Children was 18.9. This is just below our target of 19 and the national 
average of 19.4 (Appendix 5). 

1.16 The percentage of young people who are in Not in Education, Employment or Training 
(NEET) at academic age 16 (year 12) is 4.4% against a target of below 4%. For academic age 
17 (year 13), 6% of young people are NEET against a target of below 6%. We have been 
successful in a bid for Education and Skills Funding Agency funding to increase the vocational 
offer for young people in 2024/25 (Appendix 5). 

1.17 The development of the Sussex Story has been delayed due to performance 
management issues needing to be addressed on the overall contract awarded to the 
consultants. As a result, the Council, as the lead contractor on behalf of partners, severed the 
contract and withheld 25% of the contract fee. A new supplier will be identified to complete the 

Page 24



CABINET 

work in 2024/25, with the cost for the outstanding work to be met by the remaining 25% 
budget (Appendix 6). 

Keeping vulnerable people safe 

1.18 The inspection of the Council Local Authority Children's Services by the Office for 
Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) Inspections took place from 11 
– 15 December 2023. This was a short inspection. The inspection report was published 6 
February 2024, and we were awarded an overall effectiveness grading of Good with the 
experiences and progress of children in care graded as Outstanding (Appendix 5). 

1.19 The rate of Looked After Children has decreased from a rate of 63 (671 children) at 
quarter 3, to 61.5 (655 children) at the end of 2023/24, against a target of 63.4 (676 children). 
The decrease has resulted from a focus on reunification work with children and their birth 
families, and discharges from care into Special Guardianship, Adoption and Child 
Arrangement Orders. The rate of children with a Child Protection plan has decreased from a 
rate of 70.6 (753 children) at quarter 3 to 64.6 (688 children) at the end of 2023/24, however, 
this is above the target of 62 (661 children) (Appendix 5).  

1.20 Children’s Services formally launched Connected Families Intervention Practitioners in 
January 2024. The team are adult facing specialist practitioners, delivering support and 
interventions with parents/carers of children on Children in Need or Child Protection plans, 
who are experiencing domestic abuse, problematic mental health and/or problematic drug and 
alcohol use. Since their launch the practitioners have supported 177 parents and there has 
been a reduction in the number of Child Protection plans (Appendix 5). 

1.21 The latest figures (from 2022) for deaths from drug or alcohol misuse show 77 people 
died in the county. Within that total there was a significant decrease in the number of people 
who died as a result of drug misuse compared to previous years. Every death is a tragedy, 
and we continue to work hard to reduce the number of deaths every year, including by working 
with partners to ensure people receive support as early as possible (Appendix 3). 

1.22 The Government’s Sustainable Warmth Scheme, which was delivered through the 
Council’s Warm Home Check Service came to an end in October 2023. Between 2022/23 and 
2023/24 over £2m of major home energy efficiency improvements were installed for fuel poor 
households. Over 600 warm home checks were completed during 2023/24 and the 'keep 
warm and well' helpline provided brief advice to over 8,000 residents (Appendix 3). 

1.23 The White Ribbon charity aims to prevent violence against women and girls by 
addressing its root causes. The Council was reaccredited as a White Ribbon organisation in 
quarter 4. The Safer Communities team are scheduled to submit a three-year action plan to 
White Ribbon UK in quarter 2 2024/25. During quarter 4, the Safer Communities Team 
supported Clarion to open four self-contained units at Phoenix House for people fleeing 
domestic violence in East Sussex. These units have expanded the options for safe 
accommodation in East Sussex, especially for those where communal refuges may not be 
always appropriate (Appendix 3). 

Helping people help themselves 

1.24 The Tribe project, an app and website that makes it easier to volunteer across the 
county, was launched in quarter 2. By quarter 4 there were 434 listings on the platform from 
141 organisations. 323 of these listings were volunteering opportunities and 111 activities for 
people to take part in. In February 2024, the Council and Tribe created a promotional 
campaign that reached over 50,000 residents, encouraging volunteering across East Sussex 
(Appendix 3). 

1.25 The number of people receiving Direct Payments fell from 1,520 at the end of 2022/23 
to 1,457 at the end of 2023/24. The number has also decreased as a proportion of all clients, 
due to an increase in the number of people receiving community based long term support 
meaning this remains below target. Despite this, the Council’s performance is still good 

Page 25



CABINET 

compared to national benchmarks. Based on current national data, performance would fall 
within the upper-middle quartile (Appendix 3). 

1.26 333 carers were supported through short-term crisis intervention in 2023/24, against a 
target of 390. The service relies on receiving referrals direct from carers or via other 
organisations. There is evidence that carers do not identify themselves as having a caring 
role, and being in need of support. Adult Social Care will look in more detail at reasons for the 
drop in referrals and explore solutions with the provider to increase referrals to the service 
(Appendix 3). 

1.27 11 family hubs were opened across the county in 2023/24. Family hubs provide 
support and advice from midwives, health visitors, early communications support workers, 
early years practitioners and more. Activity sessions give children, parents and carers the 
chance to socialise and support their children’s needs and development (Appendix 5). 

Making best use of resources now and for the future 

1.28 Throughout 2023/24 our corporate lobbying work has focussed on using our 
partnerships and networks at the local, regional, and national level to influence policy 
development in a range of areas, including investment in highways and children’s services, as 
well as local authority funding more generally. During quarter 4, the Council outlined to East 
Sussex MPs the severe financial pressures facing the authority and asked for support in 
lobbying ministers to increase the funding in the Final Local Government Finance Settlement 
(LGFS) 2024/25. This successfully resulted in a number of local MPs signing a letter 
organised by the County Councils’ Network that called for more funding in the LGFS and an 
additional £600m of national funding for social care subsequently being made available in that 
settlement. Also, during quarter 4, ahead of a debate in the House of Commons, the Director 
of Children’s Services provided a written briefing to MPs on pressures in the Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities system, which included proposed solutions to address 
these pressures. This briefing was mentioned during the debate and a copy provided to the 
Minister for consideration (Appendix 7). 

1.29 25 energy efficiency projects have been completed in 2023/24 meeting the target for 
the year, including 5 LED lighting projects and 10 solar PV energy generation schemes. Triple 
glazing and loft, door and wall insulation has been installed at 5 schools in the county. 3 heat 
decarbonisation projects have been completed to transition from oil boilers to air source heat 
pumps at schools. 2 asset rationalisation projects have also been completed, ensuring more 
modern facilities with reduced carbon emissions. Projected energy consumption at the end of 
quarter 3 (reported a quarter in arrears) was down 33% on the 2019/20 baseline, against a 
cumulative target of 43% for the year. If energy use in quarter 4 was the same as quarter 4 
2022/23, our Scope 1 & 2 carbon emissions would reduce by 2% in 2023/24 compared with 
2022/23 (Appendix 4). 

1.30 The Council has continued to work with a range of partners to develop and deliver 
carbon reduction and climate change adaptation work in 2023/24. This included securing 
funding for a feasibility study for a potential solar farm on a former landfill site. Funding was 
secured to develop a plan to provide people with the skills to retrofit domestic properties and 
reduce their carbon emissions. Small and Medium Enterprises were assisted to measure their 
carbon footprint and awarding grants to businesses to improve their energy efficiency and 
install renewable energy systems (Appendix 6). 

1.31 The Council has received 90% of the £4.4m allocated to East Sussex from the 
Government’s Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Fund. The remaining 10% will be paid once 
the final contract has been approved. The funding will support the delivery of on street electric 
vehicle chargepoints in the county. It is expected that procurement of the contract will begin in 
quarter 2 2024/25, and that Initial work to deliver chargepoints will follow in quarter 4 2024/25 
(Appendix 6). 

1.32 The 2023/24 sickness absence figure (excluding schools) is 9.13 days per Full Time 
Equivalent role (FTE). Although this is a decrease of 9.3% since 2022/23, the 2023/24 target 
of 9.10 days per FTE has not been met. Mental health absences have increased by 772 days 

Page 26



CABINET 

compared to 2022/23, and extra support is being offered to staff to help deal with this issue 
(Appendix 4).  

 

2. Reconciling Policy, Performance and Resources (RPPR) - State of the County  
 
2.1 The State of the County report is a key annual milestone in the Council’s Reconciling 
Policy, Performance and Resources (RPPR) process, our integrated business and financial 
planning cycle. The report provides an overview of our current operating context to begin the 
process of more detailed planning for 2025/26 and beyond. In conjunction with the 2023/24 
year end monitoring report, it reflects on our achievements over the last year and the 
challenges we expect in the year ahead arising from both local and national factors. Through 
this analysis, it starts to refine our plans and to steer our business planning and budget setting 
processes.  
 
2.2 The County Council continues to make a vital difference every day to health and 
wellbeing, independence, prosperity, connectivity and community throughout the county. 
Through our services, employment, purchasing and how we work in partnership with others 
the Council makes a significant contribution to quality of life for people across East Sussex. 
The reach of our services is significant. In the past year our Adult Social Care services have 
supported 27,000 people, our Children’s Services have been in contact with over 30,000 
families, we maintained over 2,000 miles of road, including repairing over 27,000 potholes, 
issued over two million items through our libraries and dealt with a quarter of a million tonnes 
of waste. 
 
2.3 Independent reviews have endorsed the way in which the Council provides its services 
and has a positive impact on the county. Peer challenges led by the Local Government 
Association have cast a critical eye over our work and found the organisation to be focused, 
well managed and effective. Ofsted, following its detailed inspection, has praised the quality of 
our Children’s Services and the outstanding support for looked after children. Our external 
auditors have endorsed the value for money services provide across the Council. These 
considered judgements confirm the organisation’s many strengths, the commitment of our 
staff and the immense value of our partnerships. It is clear that East Sussex is a well-run 
council. But despite doing everything possible to plan and manage well locally, we are not 
immune to the national pressures weighing heavily on local government. 
 
2.4 The past year has seen growing challenges for the Council, as well as achievements, 
and we expect these ongoing pressures to have a significant impact on our planning for the 
future. Many years of prudent management, including making difficult decisions when we had 
to in order to live within our means, have enabled the Council to provide stability in its service 
offer in recent years. But the gap between the funding we expect to have and the cost of 
providing services has now grown unsustainably. We are realistic about the substantial 
challenges we face, grounded in the evidence of the future needs of the county and the 
demands this will place on our support. As always, we will be open and honest about the path 
ahead, including what this may mean for services and the people they support, and we will 
continue to plan with a clear focus on what the Council wants to achieve for East Sussex with 
the resources we have.  
 
2.5 This will entail looking again at what we are able to provide in future, and where we 
may have to step back in order to make ends meet and sustain those services we are required 
by law to provide. We must also be clear to any new Government that making further 
reductions in services that help people retain independence, or avoid the need for more 
intensive statutory support, is not what we would do if we had a choice and will have an 
impact in the longer term. We know that some of the short term decisions likely to be 
necessary to balance the books now will only generate more demand for support months or 
years down the road. Evidence shows that the best investment is in the upstream, 
preventative services which improve outcomes and ultimately make better use of resources 

Page 27



CABINET 

and we will continue to make this case. However, we simply do not have the funding to scale 
up or even maintain these services to the level we would want, or to invest as we would like in 
the infrastructure and economy of East Sussex for the future. 
 
2.6 This report contains the normal elements included in the State of the County report: 
the demographic evidence base; the national and local policy outlook; and updates on the 
Medium Term Financial Plan and Capital Programme. It provides our latest understanding of 
how we will need to continue to respond to the wide range of policy, demographic and 
financial drivers which influence the outlook for the Council in the short and longer term.  
 
2.7 Whilst the elements of this report may be familiar, the outlook it presents differs 
markedly from that of recent years. Nationally, the imminent general election holds the 
potential for significant policy change which would impact on the county’s residents, 
businesses and communities, and the ESCC and partner services which provide them with 
vital support. Most significantly, we begin our planning for 2025/26 and beyond from an 
unprecedented financial position with the current year’s balanced budget being reliant on the 
temporary buffer of reserves, creating a pressing need for further action to address the 
underlying budget gap. The possibility of a further one year financial settlement due to the 
election, followed by a Spending Review, makes the medium to longer term financial outlook 
for the Council, and local government more broadly, highly uncertain, although it is clear that 
any new Government will face very constrained public finances with many competing 
demands. 
 
2.8 Alongside the high level of both political and financial uncertainty, we continue to see 
locally the ongoing legacy of the Covid pandemic and increased cost of living manifest in 
growing need. Our biggest statutory services – social care for children and adults, support for 
special educational needs and disability (SEND), transport and highways maintenance – 
continue to face escalating costs and demand arising from factors largely outside our control. 
This, along with ongoing workforce challenges and new duties arising from national reforms, is 
placing unsustainable pressures on services across the Council. 
 
2.9 We have honed what we do so that it is lean, focused tightly on where the Council is 
best placed to act, makes best use of available resources and is underpinned by partnership 
and One Council principles.  But with difficult savings and service changes already delivered, 
we will not be able to sustain our current service offer in the face of mounting costs and 
increased demand.  
  
2.10 It remains essential that we focus our resources, in partnership with others, in the most 
effective way to support our priorities and statutory service provision. The Council spends over 
£1bn gross each year (in the region of £540m net) on services for the county’s residents and 
businesses. We continue to use our robust RPPR process to ensure our financial and other 
resources are aligned to delivery of our priority outcomes and that we are informed by a clear 
understanding of our effectiveness. This report describes the range of action we are already 
taking and outlines further steps we will need to take to bridge the financial gap if additional 
national support is not forthcoming.  
 
2.11 We continue to make every effort locally to implement strategies to manage demand 
and reduce costs. Our productivity plan, requested by Government (of all local authorities) and 
detailed at paragraph 2.35 below, summarises the significant work already delivered and next 
steps, including the national support needed. However, the scope for more efficiency gains is 
very limited and will go only a small way towards bridging the budget gap. This report sets out 
the ongoing need for proactive lobbying and communications to help ensure that the next 
Government is aware of the needs of our county, the urgent requirement for a sustainable 
funding regime that appropriately reflects local need, and the case for fundamental national 
reform in key areas to enable more flexible and targeted use of the resources we have. 
 
 

Page 28



CABINET 

Current Position 

2.12 Over the past year the county continued to be impacted by national and international 
factors leading to a range of pressures on households. The heightened cost of living continued 
to disproportionately impact on the most vulnerable, the complexity of need amongst 
vulnerable children and families grew, and we further developed our local response with 
partners and communities to the multiple aspects of migration. This challenging environment 
again reinforced the importance of the role the County Council plays for the residents, 
communities and businesses of East Sussex as we saw increased demand for our services. 
Our assessments of the ongoing levels of local need arising from recent developments 
continue to be refined and this modelling of future implications will be built into our planning.  
 
2.13 In developing our medium and longer term plans we will also need to take account of 
the broader context in which we will be working. There is considerable policy uncertainty as a 
result of the imminent general election. We are analysing manifesto commitments made by 
the main political parties nationally and how these would impact on the county, ESCC and our 
partners. The future of significant reforms to key services brought forward by the current 
Government which are yet to be fully implemented is unclear, as is the future funding available 
to support these reforms. Alongside these ongoing medium term service changes, there will 
be a need for Council departments to respond at pace to any rapid policy shifts post-election. 
The national and local context includes: 

• The developing national economic situation, with inflation falling but impacts from the 
increased cost of living persisting, and the potential for cuts to interest rates in the 
coming months.  The ongoing pressures on households are likely to continue to 
influence demand for our services for some time and the costs of providing services 
will also continue to increase.  

 
• Considerable uncertainty over the future of local government funding. The long 

planned funding review, covering the formula on which funding allocations to individual 
local authorities are based, was deferred beyond the general election, and a further 
one year financial settlement is likely for 2025/26. In addition, major national reforms to 
Adult Social Care and Children’s Services (see below) carry considerable financial 
risks for local authorities.  

 
• Changes to arrangements for driving economic growth locally as Local Enterprise 

Partnership functions transition to ESCC and a new East Sussex Economic Prosperity 
Strategy is finalised. Harnessing the benefits of investment in the county through 
Levelling Up Partnerships and the Long Term Plan for Towns will also be important. 

 
• Ongoing challenges in the labour market, including the impact of workforce shortages 

in key sectors on our ability to recruit and retain staff, ongoing pay negotiations and the 
need for our workforce to adapt to service reforms. Alongside this, the need to take 
advantage of new opportunities from rapidly developing advances in technology and 
artificial intelligence which may support capacity and efficiency. 

 
• The future of significant reforms of public services – major reforms to Adult Social Care 

charging were postponed until 2025 and the way forward will be an early decision for 
any new Government. National reforms in children’s social care and SEND are being 
progressed following substantial reviews, but are at a relatively early stage and not at 
the pace needed to address growing demand. We are also continuing to respond to a 
range of significant national and local developments and pressures in health and social 
care and taking forward a range of work to manage demand and improve outcomes.  

 
• The growing impact of climate change, adapting to its effects and working towards the 

national and local commitments to achieve carbon neutrality, including developing the 
next iteration of the Council’s Climate Emergency Plan. Additionally, the introduction of 

Page 29



CABINET 

a range of new measures through the Environment Act, including new duties in relation 
to food waste. 

 
• Significant national policy developments related to planning, infrastructure, and 

transport and, locally, maximising the value of our new highways contract and 
additional investment in highways, and taking forward the next stages of our Bus 
Service Improvement Plan and refresh of our Local Transport Plan. 

 
• The increasing need to respond to a complex picture of migration in light of global 

conflicts, increased numbers of people seeking asylum, including unaccompanied 
children, and developments in national policy on immigration. 

 
• Further development of positive work with our public and Voluntary, Community and 

Social Enterprise Sector (VCSE) partners on financial inclusion and building 
community wellbeing and resilience, in response to the increased need in our 
communities and as part of our ongoing work to help people help themselves.  

 
• The ongoing importance of our partnerships in harnessing the collective resources and 

assets available within the county for the benefit of our communities. 
 
2.14 The local and national policy outlook at Appendix 10 sets out the latest thinking on 
these and other current issues, although plans will continue to develop over the summer and 
autumn as more information emerges, particularly once the outcome of the general election is 
known. As always, Members will continue to be updated on policy developments throughout 
the RPPR cycle. 
 
2.15 In response to the unsustainable financial position we have set in train several specific 
strands of work as part of RPPR planning. Steps have already been taken to minimise day to 
day expenditure wherever possible, to provide additional oversight of workforce issues and to 
ensure that recruitment to vacant posts is carefully considered. We are also ensuring that 
increased income offsets increased costs wherever possible and we have reviewed and 
reduced our office estate and continue to prioritise the sale of assets where appropriate. We 
are seeking out further opportunities to benefit from advances in new technology, building on 
work already undertaken to introduce new digital and artificial intelligence approaches and 
systems which benefit both service delivery and capacity. For example, our ‘digital by default’ 
approach in Adult Social Care and the development of our universal digital offer in Children’s 
Services. 
 
2.16 Where resources allow, we have stepped up our long-standing focus on preventative 
or upstream approaches which improve outcomes and manage demand, supporting people 
and communities to be independent wherever possible. This includes the investment in family 
safeguarding and embedding of the Valuing Care approach in Children’s Services, and the 
further integration of community health and care services and development of health 
improvement work in Adult Social Care and Health. The delivery of additional patching, 
drainage and lining works through Cabinet’s previous additional investment in highways 
maintenance has supported increased future resilience of the roads which the local economy 
and our communities depend on. However, there is a lack of funding for the scale of 
investment required in preventative work across a range of areas which would reduce the 
need for more intensive support in the future. As resources for this work have become 
increasingly constrained over time, services have become necessarily focused on responding 
to the most critical needs, creating a negative cycle of growing demand and increased costs.  
 
2.17 We have reviewed the value for money our services provide, ensuring they perform 
well against our nearest comparator authorities and that we adopt good practice elsewhere 
where we can. As part of our RPPR planning we will systematically consider any further 
actions which may reduce the need for support in the short term or increase our capacity to 

Page 30



CABINET 

respond. As always, our approach will be evidence-based, draw on best practice and use data 
and benchmarking to identify where we can improve. 
 
2.18 This ongoing discipline and our culture of continuous improvement will help contain 
costs as far as we can. However, fundamentally there remains a significant gap between the 
income we currently expect to receive in the coming years and the costs of providing services, 
with significant additional risk arising from service reforms. Without further Government 
support, changes to the statutory requirements local authorities are expected to fulfil or 
sustainable reform of local government finances we will not have the funding we need for the 
future. Further detail on the financial outlook and proposed next steps is provided at 
paragraph 2.27. 
 
2.19 In all our activities, and in planning for the future, the County Council will continue to 
work to our guiding principles that: 

 We are effective stewards of public money and deliver good value for money through 
strong integrated business planning;  

 Our activities are transparent and we can be held to account;  

 We operate as One Council and focus on agreed priority outcomes; 

 We prioritise the investment available for front line service delivery and maximise the 
resources available, including work to secure sustainable national funding and 
partnerships with other organisations;  

 We carry out all we do professionally and competently;  

 We remain ambitious and realistic about what can be achieved with the resources 
available; and 

 We strive to be a good employer and partner. 
 
Demographic, Economic and Demand Changes 

2.20 Appendix 9 sets out the key factors affecting the county in relation to demography, 
deprivation, health, housing, the environment and economy, and the impact these are having 
on demand for our services. This contains more detail on the issues outlined in paragraphs 
2.12 – 2.19. Appendix 9 highlights some of the longer-term challenges we face related to the 
nature of our population and our geography alongside emerging issues. It should be noted 
that while some factors, such as the continuing challenges around cost of living, impact on 
residents across the county, each local area is different and some areas are impacted more 
by particular issues. In addition, some of our communities are impacted by multiple systemic 
issues that require additional support to address, as has been recognised by the awarding of 
Levelling Up funding to these areas.  
 
2.21 The main factors highlighted by the report are: 

 Older People – the latest population projections show that the number of over 65s in 
the county will continue to grow at a much faster rate than our working age population; 
we are expecting an increase of 9.9% in the 65-84 age group and an increase of 
14.2% in the over 85 age group in the next four years. Proportionately we have high 
numbers of over 65s and over 85s which has an impact on the demand for services 
and the Council’s finances. Rother has the highest percentage of the population aged 
65 years and over in the country. 
 

 Children and Young People – there are still higher levels of demand for children’s 
social care and more complex cases than seen pre-pandemic which together have 
resulted in a higher number of child protection cases. The number of children and 
young people with Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) continues to increase 
year on year, which is leading to an increased demand for home to school transport 
provision. 
 

Page 31



CABINET 

 Asylum seekers and refugees – East Sussex continues to have a higher rate of 
people receiving asylum support within the county than the national average. 
Unaccompanied asylum seeking children made up nearly a quarter of those children 
who began to be looked after last year. 

 

 Economy – economic productivity within the county remains lower than the national 
average. Average wages for those employed within the county also remain lower than 
the national average. The unemployment rates in Hastings and Eastbourne are higher 
than the national average. 

Council Priority Outcomes 

2.22 The Council’s business and financial planning is underpinned by our four priority 
outcomes, which provide a clear focus for decisions about spending and savings and direct 
activity across the Council. 
 
2.23 The current four priority outcomes are: 

 Driving sustainable economic growth; 

 Keeping vulnerable people safe;  

 Helping people help themselves; and 

 Making best use of resources now and for the future. 
 
The priority outcome that the Council makes the “best use of resources now and for the future” 
is a test that is applied to all activities to ensure sustainability of our resources, both in terms 
of money and environmental assets. It ensures that the future impact of the choices we make 
about using resources is actively considered across all that we do, as well as the here and 
now. 
 
2.24 The priority outcomes, and their subsidiary delivery outcomes, are reviewed annually 
to ensure they continue to reflect the current context, with updates proposed as required. 
Reflecting our continually evolving operating environment, some specific amendments to 
delivery outcomes are proposed to ensure the priorities we are working to deliver, and the way 
we measure the performance of our activities and services, remain appropriate. 
 
2.25 The following changes are proposed to delivery outcomes:  
 
Keeping vulnerable people safe 
Two wording amendments are proposed to reflect that the social care sector is moving away 
from the terminology ‘services’ as it is not inclusive of the wider range of support that is offered 
to residents (such as other community assets that help to meet people’s needs) and also to 
reflect the Council’s focus on enabling people to live well, beyond simply providing them with a 
service: 

 All vulnerable people in East Sussex are known to relevant local agencies and services 
are support is delivered together to meet their needs 

 People feel safe with services support provided 
 
Helping people help themselves  
The addition of a new delivery outcome is proposed to better recognise that Adult Social Care 
and Health, and other Council departments, make a contribution to addressing the social 
determinants of health, beyond simply working with partners (as described in the current 
delivery outcomes): 

 We work to reduce health inequalities and maximise opportunities for our residents to 
live healthier lives. 

 

Page 32



CABINET 

2.26 Cabinet is asked to review the current priority and delivery outcomes and agree them 
as the basis for future business and financial planning, subject to the amendments outlined in 
paragraph 2.25 above. The full set of priority and delivery outcomes, showing the proposed 
amendments, is attached at Appendix 11. 
 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan  

2.27 When the 2024/25 balanced budget was approved by Full Council on 6 February 2024, 
the deficit on the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) to 2026/27 was £61.825m. Updating 
the MTFP for normal factors (such as the latest inflation rates and an additional year), the 
position is an increased deficit by 2027/28 of £83.601m. 

 
 
2.28 Existing financial pressures that have already impacted in 2023/24, whilst recognised 
within the additional investment when the budget was set, are expected to continue into 
2024/25, particularly in Children’s Services (which overspent by £30.42m in 2023/24), where 
looked after children and home to school transport service demands are significant, and Adult 
Social Care (which overspend by £1.98m), due to the impact of the national living wage 
increase and rising levels of debt from client contributions. In addition, emergent pressures are 
likely in SEND and Adult Social Care independent sector placements.  
 
2.29 At a national level, the Government funding that ESCC will receive between 2025/26 
and 2027/28 is yet to be confirmed. The Local Government Financial Settlement was only a 
one year settlement for 2024/25 and was the last year of the Autumn Statement 2021 
Spending Review. There is no indication of the level of funding that will be available from 
2025/26 onwards. With all this uncertainty, it is not possible to present a detailed draft MTFP 
to 2027/28. 
 
2.30 As part of the settlement, the Government announced £500m of additional grant 
funding to support pressures in social care, of which the Council was allocated £5.386m. The 
continuation of a range of short-term grants announced in the 2023/24 Settlement was also 
confirmed. It is proposed to allocate the additional funding for social care to support the 
investments in children’s and adult social care within the Council’s agreed 2024/25 revenue 
budget and reduce the budgeted draw from reserves. However, this funding will not be 
sufficient to fund the demand and inflationary pressures facing ESCC services in 2024/25 in 
full and the Council will still require a significant draw on reserves.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Medium Term Financial Plan 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

 £m £m £m 

Annual Budget Deficit / (Surplus)  40.976 16.503 11.778 

Carry Forward of 2024/25 Deficit 14.344 -  - 

Annual Budget Deficit / (Surplus) after 

Carry Forward 
55.320 16.503 11.778 

 

Total Budget Deficit / (Surplus) 55.320 71.823 83.601 

Page 33



CABINET 

 
2.31 The use of reserves to mitigate budget deficits is not sustainable as they can only be 
used once. The current level of reserves is set out in the table below. Total strategic reserves 
are projected to be £16.7m by 2029, which excludes any draws required to set a balanced 
budget in 2025/26 or beyond. This compares with a cumulative deficit of £83.6m by 2027/28: 
 

 Reserve Balances 

  
  
  

  
  

  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Full Council 
February 2024  

  
  

  

  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

SoC June 2024  

 (£m) (£m) 

  
01.04.24  31.03.28 

01.04.24  
31.03.29 

Est. Est. Est. 

Earmarked Reserves:         

Held on behalf of others or statutorily ringfenced 32.3 32.1 31.3 30.6 

Named Service Reserves         

Waste Reserve 19.4 8.9 19.5 11.6 

Capital Programme Reserve 9.4 0.5 9.9 0.0 

Insurance Reserve 7.5 7.3 7.4 7.2 

Adult Social Care Reform Reserve 3.1 0.0 3.0 0.0 

Subtotal named service reserves 39.4 16.7 39.8 18.8 

Strategic Reserves         

Priority Outcomes and Transformation 5.9 5.6 7.3 1.5 

Financial Management  31.8 19.4 35.8 15.2 

Subtotal strategic reserves 37.7 25.0 43.1 16.7 

Total Earmarked Reserves 109.4 73.8 114.2 66.1 

          

General Fund Balance 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 

          

Total Reserves  119.4 83.8 124.2 76.1 

 
2.32 A number of scenarios are currently being considered, which may impact the overall 
deficit, as set out in the table below.  
 

 
2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 

£m £m £m £m 

Revised deficit 55.320 16.503 11.778 83.601 

Scenarios currently being considered         

Continuation of Adult Social Care (ASC) grant funding (5.386) 0.000 0.000 (5.386) 

Proceeds of Business Rates (NNDR) pooling (2.194) 2.194 0.000 0.000 

Council Tax: Premiums on second homes (3.524) (0.070) (0.072) (3.666) 

Reduction in contractual inflation in line with forecasts (6.481) 0.000 0.000 (6.481) 

Council Tax Flexibility: Add a further 3.00% to our 
current 1.99% assumption to get to 4.99% (2.99% plus 
2.00% ASC Precept) in all years  

(11.138) (12.254) (13.476) (36.868) 

Deficit/(surplus) after scenarios  26.597 6.373 (1.770) 31.200 

 
2.33 As set out above, should all these scenarios materialise there would still remain a 
deficit of £26.6m in 2025/26. Given the forecast level of strategic reserves is £16.7m by March 
2029, which excludes any draws necessary to mitigate future deficits, and that all other 
avenues have been explored, further steps are required to support the Council in being able to 
set a balanced budget in the absence of any indications of further national support. It is 

Page 34



CABINET 

recommended that officers explore areas of search across all departments to reduce the 
financial gap, with a focus on: 

 Discretionary and non-statutory preventative services 

 Directly provided services 

 Support services and back office functions 

 Income generation 
 
2.34 Making further savings will impact on the Council’s ability to maintain its Core Offer - 
the basic but decent level of services residents should expect. The financial position means 
that it may no longer be possible to sustain all services at Core Offer levels. Given the need 
for any savings to take effect as early as possible to impact on the 2025/26 financial position, 
areas of search will be brought forward for Member consideration at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Productivity Plan 

2.35 The additional national funding provided for social care in the final Local Government 
Finance Settlement was accompanied by a new expectation for councils to produce 
productivity plans as part of Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 
efforts to return the sector to sustainability in the future. The plan, although not a requirement 
of local authorities, summarises how the Council continuously assures itself and others about 
the appropriate and effective use of public money and the significant steps taken over many 
years to make best use of available resources. It provides an opportunity to set out to DLUHC 
the key factors now impacting on sustainability and productivity for ESCC and what we are 
doing to address these, as well as action we need Government to take. DLUHC is establishing 
a Long-Term Sustainability Panel, comprising representatives from local government and the 
technology and transformation sectors, to review common themes and evidence arising from 
the plans from autumn 2024. The Panel will consider national policy implications, the role of 
Government in supporting change and the role of the sector itself. 

2.36 ESCC’s productivity plan is attached at Appendix 13. Although a stand-alone 
document it signposts, where possible, to the Council’s existing and comprehensive business 
planning and performance framework. It summarises concisely the Council’s approach in the 
areas specified by DLUHC – service development, technology and data and effective use of 
resources – and responds to its request to set out the barriers that Government can help 
address. It emphasises the need for investment in preventative approaches as central to a 
return to sustainability, alongside reform to the statutory requirements placed on local 
authorities in key areas where current national policy or legislation prevents us from targeting 
our resources most effectively. Subject to Cabinet agreement, the plan will be submitted to 
Government and published on the Council's website so that it is easily available to the public. 

Capital Programme  

2.37       The approved programme has now been updated to reflect the 2023/24 outturn and 
other approved variations, revising the gross programme to £874.5m to 2033/34. The details 
are set out in Appendix 12, together with the revised programme. 
 
2.38       The 10 year capital programme to 2033/34 and 20 year Capital Strategy 2024/25 to 
2044/45 will be updated as part of the RPPR process over the autumn to add an additional 
year and ensure continued links into, and support of, the Council’s other strategies. In 
addition, a review will be conducted of core Council-funded programmes/projects to consider 
the implications of a reduced programme that reduces pressure on the MTFP position.  
 
Lobbying and Communications 

2.39 This report sets out the diverse range of issues the Council must address in planning 
for the future, and the national factors significantly contributing to these. The medium term 
outlook is highly challenging - we face a significant financial gap which will necessitate service 
reductions, uncertainty in relation to national reforms in major service areas and wider national 

Page 35



CABINET 

policy direction, and a lack of clarity on long-term funding arrangements. There are significant 
risks and planning in this context is not easy, but it is clear that, without further Government 
support, the financial outlook will require difficult decisions and that these will not be the 
decisions we would choose to make to address growing demands. 
 
2.40 Through our lobbying, we will make clear to the Government the specific needs of East 
Sussex and call for sustainable funding for local government that is appropriately reflective of 
local need and that fully reflects the impact of reforms. We will also proactively suggest things 
that will help without significant cost - calling for reforms and flexibilities which would help us 
better target and use our resources – helping us help ourselves. Both will be paramount to 
ensuring we are able to deliver what will be required to support East Sussex residents, 
communities and businesses with the services they need, including opportunities to continue 
positive preventative work that could most effectively manage future demand for services.  
 
2.41 We will continue to work with local, regional and national partners to make this case 
through all available avenues and seek the support of East Sussex MPs in highlighting the 
needs of our county and the key role the Council has to play in improving the quality of life for 
people in our county.  
 
Next Steps 

2.42 Work will continue over the summer to refine our understanding of the medium term 
impacts on our services of national reforms, the evolving economic and political context, 
changing demand for services and the financial resources that will be available to us in the 
coming years. We will also further develop proposals for closing the financial gap, including 
potential savings.  
 
2.43 We will report back to Members in the autumn with an updated assessment of our 
service demand, funding expectations and proposed actions to inform more detailed business 
and budget planning for 2025/26 and beyond. We will use our RPPR process to plan for the 
future as best we can in the context of a likely one year financial settlement once again. 
 
2.44 Members will continue to be consulted on plans as they are developed through 
Cabinet, County Council, Scrutiny Committees, Whole Council Forums and specific 
engagement sessions throughout the 2024/25 Reconciling Policy, Performance and 
Resources process.   
 
 
3. East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Local Plan 

Review – Adoption 
 
3.1 The Cabinet considered a report on the East Sussex County Council work in 
partnership with the South Downs National Park Authority and Brighton & Hove City Council 
(the Authorities) in the preparation of minerals and waste planning policy for East Sussex, 
Brighton & Hove and the area of the National Park within the County and City.  Together, the 
Authorities have prepared the Waste and Minerals Plan (WMP, 2013), and the Waste and 
Minerals Sites Plan (WMSP, 2017). These adopted plans form the Waste and Minerals Local 
Plan (WMLP) which is used by each of the Authorities in the determination of planning 
applications for waste management activities, and minerals extraction and infrastructure in the 
Plan area.  The WMLP forms part of the Development Plan and is, therefore, also applicable 
to the District and Borough Councils as local planning authorities.  

3.2 Over the past few years, the Authorities have been undertaking a partial review of the 
WMLP (primarily focussed on minerals planning matters) and in November 2022 the proposed 
Waste and Minerals Revised Policies document was subject to an independent Examination in 
Public, which was conducted by two Examining Inspectors from the Planning Inspectorate. In 
light of initial feedback from the Examining Inspectors, some modifications to the Revised 
Policies document were proposed and consulted upon.  The Inspectors have subsequently 

Page 36



CABINET 

agreed these modifications and now consider that the Plan is legally compliant and ‘sound’.  It 
is now for the Authorities to formally adopt the Revised Policies document (appendix 15), so 
that it becomes part of the Development Plan for East Sussex and Brighton & Hove. 

Supporting information 

3.3 The partial review of the Waste and Minerals Local Plan was commenced in 2017.  
Public consultations were undertaken in Autumn 2017, Spring/Summer 2020 and 
Autumn/Winter 2021/22.  In May 2022 the draft Revised Policies Document was submitted to 
the Secretary of State in order to commence the Examination in Public, which was conducted 
by the Planning Inspectorate.  Hearing sessions for the Examination were held in November 
2022, after which the Inspectors suggested certain modifications to the draft Revised Policies 
Document.  The modifications were duly proposed by the Authorities and consulted upon 
during October – December 2023 (Appendix 16 of the report).  The Inspectors have 
subsequently considered these modifications, including all representations made, and 
considered that provided these modifications are incorporated into the Revised Policies 
Document and subsequently the overall Waste and Minerals Local Plan, it is considered 
‘sound’ and capable of being adopted by the Authorities.  The Inspectors’ full report is 
attached to this report as appendix 14. 

3.4 The need for this partial review stems from the conclusions of the examining Inspector 
of the Waste and Minerals Sites Plan in his report published in 2016, who concluded that a 
review of the minerals policies within the 2013 Waste and Minerals Plan would be required as 
the supply of aggregate from existing permitted extraction sites is likely to be exhausted prior 
to the end of the Plan period in 2026. Maintaining a reliable supply of aggregate is essential to 
facilitate construction and economic growth, including house building. 

3.5 Whilst the partial review has primarily focused on minerals policies, including the 
supply of aggregate, a limited number of other policies in the plan have been revised as they 
were considered out-of-date (generally due to changes in national policy and legislation). 

3.6 In terms of the policies relating to minerals provision, no new sites are proposed for 
allocation within the Plan area.  This is generally a consequence of the geology of the Plan 
area and environmental constraints.  Instead, the Authorities are seeking to primarily rely on 
marine-won aggregate and the re-use and recycling of material.  The Inspectors have 
endorsed this approach. 

3.7 It is important to note that whilst the Plan recognises the importance of marine 
aggregate to the area, it only has jurisdiction when it comes to planning for the land based 
infrastructure that would be required to support its supply.  The bodies that consider and grant 
consent for marine dredging to supply aggregate are the Crown Estate and the Marine 
Management Organisation (MMO).  It is not for the Waste and Minerals Plan to reconsider 
and/or assess the impacts of this activity.  

3.8 In light of the Inspectors’ conclusions, the Waste and Minerals Revised Policies 
document may now be adopted by the three Authorities.  In this regard, it is important to note 
that the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance (paragraph 058) states the following, 
which is of relevance to this stage of plan making; 

“Once the examination process is complete, adoption is the final stage of putting a local plan 
in place. This requires confirmation by a full meeting of the local planning authority (regulation 
4(1) and (3) of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000). On adopting a Local Plan, the local planning authority has to make publicly available a 
copy of the plan, an adoption statement and Sustainability Appraisal in line with regulations 26 
and 35 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 . 

While the local planning authority is not legally required to adopt its local plan following 
examination, it will have been through a significant process locally to engage communities and 
other interests in discussions about the future of the area, and it is to be expected that the 
authority will proceed quickly with adopting a plan that has been found sound.” 

Page 37

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/regulation/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/regulation/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/regulation/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/26/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/26/made


CABINET 

3.9 Preparation of the Waste and Minerals Revised Policies document has been 
accompanied by a Sustainability Appraisal (SA).  The SA is used to test various policy options, 
along with the proposed policies themselves to help ensure that the Plan is contributing 
towards the achievement of sustainable development.  Should the Plan be adopted, the final 
Sustainability Appraisal Report will need to be published alongside it. 

3.10 Once the Waste and Minerals Revised Policies document has been adopted, a full and 
comprehensive review of the Waste and Minerals Local Plan will be commenced.  The 
Council’s published Minerals and Waste Development Scheme sets out a timetable for this full 
review, with an initial consultation expected in late 2024/early 2025. 

 
3.11 The Cabinet recommends the County Council to - 
 

 (1) agree the Waste and Minerals Revised Policies document, incorporating the 
Main Modifications and minor modifications, and updated Policies Map, is adopted and 
published; and 

    (2) that the relevant adoption statement and Sustainability Appraisal Report is 
published.  

 

 

25 June 2024         KEITH GLAZIER   
(Chair) 

Page 38



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

REPORT OF THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 

 
The Governance Committee met on 25 June 2024. Attendances: 

 

Councillor Glazier (Chair) 

Councillors Bennett, Bowdler, Collier, Tutt and Denis (via MS Teams) 

 

 

1. Flexible Retirement Policy   

1.1 The County Council previously operated a flexible retirement scheme for LGPS 

members which ceased in 2012. The scheme enabled an employee from age 55 to reduce 

their hours or move to a lower paid role, whilst accessing a proportion of their pension 

benefits to offset the reduction in salary. 

1.2 The scheme was intended to provide employees greater flexibility in their approach to 

retirement and mitigate the ‘cliff edge’ effect of the now abolished compulsory retirement age 

of 65 years. It was also designed to support the business needs of the organisation by 

maintaining skill retention and supporting effective succession planning. 

1.3 The abolition of the default retirement age on 1st October 2011 prompted a policy 

review and consequently the scheme ceased due to several coinciding key factors mainly: 

 the abolition of the compulsory retirement age at 65 years lessened the need for 

the scheme particularly with other available flexible working options, and a voluntary 

redundancy scheme in operation. It also created some uncertainty around the end 

date of a flexible retirement arrangement and therefore it’s implied value and cost 

effectiveness; 

 the scheme was not considered to meet the business needs of the council based 

on the recruitment context at that time. In particular, following the 2007 financial crisis 

there were more skilled recruits available and less need to retain existing employees; 

and  

  the rule of abatement restricting earnings applied, which made the scheme less 

appealing. Abatement no longer applies (except in the cases of tier 3 ill health 

retirement only). 

1.4 The Council’s recruitment context has changed significantly. We are now 

experiencing an increasingly competitive recruitment environment where it is more difficult to 

attract and retain skilled employees. This warrants a greater focus on meeting the needs of a 

maturing workforce. 

1.5 The rise in cost of living is also likely to have an impact on financially viable options 

for flexible working as staff approach retirement age. A maturing workforce, particularly those 

with caring responsibilities, are more likely to want to consider a financially balanced decision 

around flexible working. 

1.6 A benchmarking exercise has shown that many authorities have continued to 

successfully operate a flexible retirement scheme despite a fluctuating economic and social 

climate, and the legislative change in 2011. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

Supporting information 

1.7 This report proposes the reintroduction of a flexible retirement scheme that facilitates 

a permanent reduction in an employee’s contractual hours or grade (for example an internal 

role transfer at a lower grade) whilst accessing their pension benefits. 

1.8 The scheme would be underpinned by the following key principles. A flexible 

retirement arrangement must: 

  accompany a mutually agreeable reduction in contractual working hours or 

grade and therefore pay; 

 be beneficial to the service and sustainable for ongoing business continuity; 

and, 

 present no additional cost to the organisation (for example, in relation to 

waiving pension reductions for early access to benefits). 

1.9 Employees would need to discuss and agree a business case with their manager, 

demonstrating how the arrangement would support the business needs of the service. HR 

would provide guidance for managers to ensure the process was managed appropriately and 

consistently. In approving requests, managers would need to consider the sustainability of an 

ongoing flexible retirement arrangement, bearing in mind that there is no expectation of a 

default retirement age or obligation to determine an end date. 

1.10 In terms of a minimum reduction in contractual hours, it is recommended that this is 

at least 20%. This is broadly in line with other authorities who report a minimum percentage 

reduction between 20% - 50%. It is worth noting that as part of the policy review undertaken 

in 2012, managers reported that a 20% reduction was not enough to make an effective 

saving, enable the backfilling of the reduced hours, or effectively plan for succession. It is 

therefore propose that whilst any policy includes a 20% reduction in hours as a minimum, the 

service determines the appropriate minimum reduction in the context of business needs 

including retention of skills, experience, and succession planning. The reduction in 

contractual hours should be understood to be a permanent reduction. 

1.11 If agreed, to support the implementation of the scheme, a communications plan will 

be drawn up to provide information and details for managers and staff on the scheme, the 

key points and the application process.   

1.12 The scheme is not expected to incur any cost to the organisation. As stated above, it 

is expected that the Council would not waive any actuarial reduction and/or “strain” cost for 

early access to an employee’s pension. This has been made clear in the draft Policy, a copy 

of which is attached as Appendix 1 of the report. Set against this background, the key 

consideration in relation to approval is around the needs of the service and business impact. 

As such, the draft scheme proposes that the authority to approve flexible retirement requests 

sits at Assistant Director level. 

1.13 Provision to allow an active member who has attained the age 55 or over to reduce 

their working hours or grade and receive immediate payment of all or part of their retirement 

pension is contained within The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) regulations – 

R30(6) and TP11(2). At present, the Council’s Local Government Pension Scheme Employer 

Discretions Policy notes that the Council does not operate a Flexible Retirement Policy. If a 

Flexible Retirement Scheme is agreed to be implemented, the local discretions will be 

updated to reflect this.  

Page 40



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

 

1.14 The Committee recommends the County Council to: 

 

 approve (1) the implementation of a flexible retirement scheme for employees 

(excluding those on Teaching terms and conditions); and 

 

(2) that the Local Government Pension Scheme Employer Discretions Policy is 

updated accordingly as set out in 1. 13 of this report.  

 

2. Amendment to Constitution – Scheme of Delegation to Officers 

2.1 The County Council’s Scheme of Delegation provides the Director of Communities, 
Economy and Transport (CET) with authority to perform a number of functions and make 
certain decisions across the range of services that make up the directorate.  National policy, 
legislative changes and the need to more efficiently respond to specific scenarios can result 
in new and amended functions that need to be performed by the CET directorate.  To ensure 
that decisions are taken at an appropriate level, and are capable of being taken within 
prescribed timeframes, certain changes and additions are proposed to the Scheme of 
Delegation to Officers.   

2.2 The changes proposed in this report are as a result of the creation of the King 
Charles III England Coast Path National Trail, which is covered by the Countryside & Rights 
of Way (CROW) Act 2000 and the Marine & Coastal Access (MCA) Act 2009.  Changes are 
also proposed in relation to the delegation of powers within Sections 15 and 16 of the 
Commons Act 2006.  Respectively, these powers relate to the withdrawal of Town & Village 
Green applications by an applicant and the ‘exchange’ of Common Land, typically as a result 
of a development.  

 

Proposed amendments to the Scheme of Delegation 

King Charles III England Coast Path National Trail (KCIIIECP)    

2.3 The KCIIIECP is a new 2,800-mile National Trail running around the coast of 
England.  The Trail is currently being implemented on the ground by Natural England.  
However, once complete, the ongoing management of the Trail will fall to Access Authorities 
(typically County and City Councils or National Parks) to manage.  The East Sussex section 
of the Trail is due to open in 2024/25. 
 
2.4 Typically, the KCIIIECP will run over existing public rights of way or highways.  In 
these cases, the Highways Act powers to maintain and enforce the public’s right of way are 
already delegated to the Director of Communities, Economy and Transport.   

2.5 However, where public rights of way or highways do not exist along the coast, Natural 
England is required to create strips of ‘Access Land’, to ensure continuous public access.  
The public has access over this land on foot.  The powers to manage and enforce public 
access under the CROW and MCA Acts are not currently delegated to officers.   

2.6 Once the Trail is open, this duty will fall to East Sussex County Council (ESCC), and 
it is proposed that the powers detailed within Appendix 2 of the report be delegated to the 
Director of Communities, Economy and Transport.  This would also be in keeping with the 
equivalent Highways Act powers already delegated to the Director (see paragraph 2.4). 

 

Section 15, Commons Act 2006 – Town & Village Green application – withdrawal by 
applicant 

Page 41



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

2.7 A member of the public can make an application to ESCC to have an area of land 
registered as a Town & Village Green (TVG.)  In line with legislative requirements, such 
applications are subject to a range of legal tests and are, following a report and 
recommendation made by officers, ultimately confirmed or refused by ESCC’s Commons 
and Village Green Panel. 

2.8 Applying to register a TVG can be a lengthy and complex process for an applicant to 
take on.  Due to the consultations required, and length of time an application may take to 
conclude, the situation on the ground in terms of access can also change before the 
application is concluded.  Therefore, an applicant may, for their own reasons, wish to 
withdraw their TVG application.   

2.9 Where an applicant wishes to withdraw their application, ESCC consults the various 
interested parties and also places notices on site to draw out local comments.  If no 
objections are received, there is currently no delegation in place for a decision to be made at 
Officer level. A request to withdraw can therefore only be decided on by resolution of a 
Commons and Village Green Panel.  It is proposed that if, following consultation, no 
objections are received, power should be delegated to the Director of Communities, 
Economy and Transport as set out in Appendix 2 to enable a TVG application to be formally 
withdrawn. 

2.10 If, following consultation, objections are received to a proposed withdrawal of a TVG 
application, then the officer recommendation and ultimate decision would be referred to the 
Commons and Village Panel to consider. 

 

Section 16, Commons Act 2006 – joining application for de-registration and replacement of 
Common Land 

2.11 Section 16 of the Commons Act 2006 allows an applicant to de-register land that is 
registered as Common Land (CL). That Section also allows for land to be provided to 
‘replace’ the CL that has been de-registered.  The de-registration and replacement of CL is 
typically necessary to allow developments which have been granted planning permission to 
progress. 

2.12 Such applications are usually a matter between the applicant and the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.  However, where a public right of way runs 
across the CL to be de-registered, ESCC is required to become a joint applicant.  (It should 
be noted that, if a diversion of the public right of way in question is also necessary, that 
would be dealt with by powers within the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 or Highways 
Act 1980, both of which are already delegated to officer level within CET.) 

2.13 In these cases, the primary applicant (usually a developer) carries out all public 
consultation and liaison with the Secretary of State, meaning ESCC is a minor party to the 
application whose sole interest is the existence of the public right of way which runs across 
the CL.  Therefore, where ESCC is required to join applications due to the existence of a 
public right of way, it is recommended that this power is delegated to the Director of 
Communities, Economy and Transport as set out in Appendix 2.  

 

2.14 The Committee recommends the County Council to: 
 

 approve (1) the amendment of the Scheme of Delegation to Officers as set out in 
Appendix 2 of this report. 
 
 
 

 

Page 42



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

3. Amendment to the Constitution – Employee Code of Conduct 

 

3.1 The Employee Code of Conduct (ECoC) forms part of the Council’s Constitution, as 

well as being reproduced as a standalone document provided to employees via the staff 

intranet and Webshop for school employees. The ECoC sets out the minimum standards of 

conduct that employees will be expected to observe when carrying out their duties. The 

document is maintained by the Human Resources Team and is periodically reviewed to 

reflect any changes in best practice, legislation, or the Council’s operational context. 

3.2 Following a recent review of the ECoC, it’s proposed that it is updated to include 

additional wording that formally confirms employees must not access the records of relatives 

or friends who receive services from the Council. Various minor amendments and 

clarifications are also proposed, as described below. An amended copy of the ECoC is 

attached as Appendix 3, with the proposed amendments shown as tracked changes. 

 

Access to records 

 

3.3 As the Governance Committee will be aware, the Council provides employees with 

comprehensive training on data protection, confidentiality, and information security, and 

restricts access to sensitive data only to those employees who need to access it in the 

course of their work. However, there have been isolated cases where employees have  

accessed the records of relatives or friends who are accessing services from the Council.  

To help mitigate the risk of future incidents, it’s proposed that the ECoC is amended to: 

 

 State that employees should declare any potential conflict of interest between their 

job role and council services received by relatives or friends; 

 Actively state that employees must not access records relating to relatives or friends; 

 Amend the paragraph giving examples of where a conflict of interest declaration 

should be submitted, to clarify that conflicts may relate to personal or business 

connections to the Council. 

 
Other minor amendments 
 
3.4 As part of the most recent review of the ECoC, the following minor amendments are 

also proposed: 

 

 Updating the wording regarding conflict of interest declaration to confirm that 

employees are responsible for submitting a declaration annually, or sooner if a 

potential conflict arises; 

 Clarifying the circumstances under which an ‘offline’ declaration form should be used 

and updating the list of departmental coordinators for offline forms. It’s also proposed 

that for confidentiality purposes, the names of individual coordinators be removed 

from the version of the ECoC included in the externally published constitution; and 

 Updating where employees can access further guidance on politically restricted posts 

and removing a reference to defunct guidance on intellectual property. 

 Changes to the formatting of the ECoC in line with best practice and house style. 

 

3.5 The Committee recommends the County Council to: 

Page 43



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

 approve (1) the following amendments to the Constitution, which relate to the 
Employee Code of Conduct: 

i. additional wording to formally confirm that employees must not access 
the records of relatives or friends who receive services from the 
council; and  

ii. minor amendments and clarifications as set out at Appendix 3 of this 
report. 

 

 

25 June 2024                   KEITH GLAZIER 
          (Chair) 

Page 44



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 

 

EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 
 

 
 
Report of a meeting of the East Sussex Fire Authority held at County Hall, St. Anne’s 
Crescent, Lewes BN7 1UE at 10:30 hours on Thursday, 13 June 2024. 
 
Councillors Evans (Chair), Lambert (Vice-Chair), Galley, Asaduzzaman, Azad, Dowling, 
Geary, Goddard, Hill, Maples, Marlow-Eastwood, Nann, Osborne, Redstone, Scott, Shing, 
Theobald and Ungar 
 
The agenda and non-confidential reports can be read on the East Sussex Fire & Rescue 
Service’s website at http://www.esfrs.org/about-us/east-sussex-fire-authority/fire-authority-
meetings/  A brief synopsis and the decisions relating to key items is set out below. 
  
1 ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 
  
1.1 Members resolved to appoint Councillor Amanda Evans as Chair of the Fire Authority 

for the year 2024/25. 
  
2 ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIRPERSON 
  
2.1 Members resolved to appoint Councillor Carolyn Lambert as Vice-Chair of the Fire 

Authority for the year 2024/25. 
  
3 URGENT ITEMS AND CHAIRMAN’S BUSINESS 
  
3.1 Following changes to the Outside Body appointments at Brighton & Hove City 

Council, the Chair welcomed Cllr Raphael Hill and Cllr Jackie O’Quinn as members 
of the Fire Authority.   There would also be a change to the Outside Body 
appointments from East Sussex County Council on the 25 June 2024 and the Fire 
Authority would be welcoming back Cllr Peter Pragnell. 

  
3.2 The Chair asked that the Fire Authority formally record its thanks to Cllr Trevor Muten 

and Cllr Pete West.  The Fire Authority thanked them all for their dedicated service 
during their time as Members.  The Authority was grateful for their contributions to 
the Fire Authority’s work and wished them well in the future.   

  
3.3 The Chair thanked Cllr Roy Galley for his dedicated service to the Fire Authority 

during his time as Chairman.  The Authority had benefitted greatly from his 
knowledge, engagement and service during his tenure as Chairman.  Several 
Members spoke, agreeing that Cllr Galley was well respected and had been a decent, 
welcoming Chairman who encouraged and assisted colleagues and officers 
alike.  Cllr Galley thanked the Fire Authority and Officers, it had been a privilege to 
serve on the Fire Authority, appointed in 2013 and as Chairman from 2019.  He 
praised the Service, particularly the positive attitude of the Firefighters, the 
hardworking support staff, the professionalism of the Principal Officers and the co-
operative approach of the Fire Authority Members. 

  

Page 45

Agenda Item 9

http://www.esfrs.org/about-us/east-sussex-fire-authority/fire-authority-meetings/
http://www.esfrs.org/about-us/east-sussex-fire-authority/fire-authority-meetings/


EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 

 

4 POLITICAL REPRESENTATION ON THE PANELS OF THE FIRE AUTHORITY 
  
4.1 The Authority received a report seeking to secure political balance on its Panels in 

accordance with the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) 
Regulations 1990 and agree to the resultant Membership to the Panels of the Fire 
Authority. 

  
4.2 The Fire Authority was required to keep under review the allocation of seats on 

Committees and other bodies to ensure, so far as practicable, that they reflected the 
political groups on the Authority.  The rules governing this representation were 
outlined in the report.  There remained four political groups on the Fire Authority and 
the political make-up was: 
  
Conservatives 7 
Labour  5 
Liberal Democrat 3 
Green   2 
Independent  1 

  
4.3 The Panels are the Authority’s committees set up in accordance with Standing Order 

41 and their terms of reference are shown in the Constitution.  The size of each Panel 
is not constituted and could be agreed by the Fire Authority.  To ensure each Panel 
was representative of the overall membership of the Fire Authority it was agreed that 
the size of each Panel remain at 7 members. 

  
4.4 After the publication of the agenda, the Conservative Group of East Sussex County 

Council, following approval from their Monitoring Officer, had opted to offer one of 
their six places on the Fire Authority to Councillor Azad who had recently left the 
group to become an Independent Member.  The Conservative Group on the Fire 
Authority had, opted to nominate Cllr Azad to hold two of their panel seats.   

  
4.5 The Authority agreed appointments to each Lead Member Role.  The Membership of 

each panel was confirmed at the meeting.  The Authority confirmed the Panel 
arrangements, political representation and membership of each panel at the meeting.  
They agreed that the political balance provisions shall not apply to the membership 
of the Principal Officer Appointments Panel.  The Authority agreed the appointment 
of Cllr Paul Redstone as Chairperson of the Policy & Resources Panel in accordance 
with Standing Order 41.13 and that the remaining Panels would appoint a 
Chairperson at their first meeting under Standing Order 41.14. 

  
5 FIRE AUTHORITY AND PANEL MEETINGS 2024/25 AND 2025/26 
  
5.1 The Fire Authority received and noted the dates of meetings of the Fire Authority and 

Panels through until its annual meeting in June 2026. 
  
6 TREASURY MANAGEMENT – STEWARDSHIP REPORT 2023/24 
  
6.1 The Fire Authority received the Annual Treasury Management Stewardship Report, 

a requirement of the Fire Authority’s reporting procedures, informing Members of 
Treasury Management performance and compliance with Prudential Indicators for 
2023/24.  The Authority had complied with its approved Treasury Management 
Strategy and Prudential Indicators for the year. 

  

Page 46



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 

 

6.2 The Bank of England Base Rate increased on three occasions during 2023/24, from 
4.25% to 5.25%.  The average rate of interest received through Treasury 
Management activity was 4.99%, reflecting the Authority's continuing prioritisation of 
security and liquidity over yield.  No new borrowing had been undertaken and three 
loans totalling £0.400m had been repaid during the year, with total loan debt 
outstanding being £9.417m as at 31 March 2024 and the average interest rate was 
4.50%.   

  
6.3 Decisions on investment had been taken in the context of the prevailing economic 

climate, the approved capital programme and the requirement to fund it over the 
medium term.  No investment in longer duration funds was made.  Opportunities 
were being explored to secure investment returns within the acceptable risk 
parameters set out in the Authority’s agreed Strategy.  Investments had been made 
in Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) funds that met the policy criteria for 
security and liquidity and offered comparable or better returns that similar non-ESG 
funds.   

  
6.4 Members urged that more ESG investments be made where possible, it was good to 

see that some had been outperforming non-ESG funds and reassuring that there 
were more that the Authority were considering for future investment.  There was a 
brief discussion regarding the divestment, during which the Monitoring Officer 
reminded those present that as the meeting was taking place within the pre-election 
period and all contributions must relate to the business of the Fire Authority and 
Members should be careful not to make anything that could be considered a political 
statement.  By way of a response, to the matter in general, it was confirmed that the 
Fire Authority had no approved position on divestment, and that the current Medium 
Term Finance Plan meant that the amount of reserves available for investment would 
be reducing significantly over the next few years.  The Authority agreed to note the 
Treasury Management performance for 2023/24. 

  
7 COMMUNICATIONS, ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION STRATEGY 2024-27 
  
7.1 The Fire Authority considered a report presenting the Communications, Engagement 

& Consultation Strategy for approval.  The Strategy had been developed in support 
of the Purpose and Commitments, Integrated/Community Risk Management Plans 
and other Fire Authority Strategies.  It had been reviewed by the Senior Leadership 
Team, other senior officers and team leaders and had input from Fire Authority 
Members and the Equality & Inclusion lead.  The deliverables within the strategy took 
into consideration findings from the HMICFRS and the National Fire Standards on 
communications & engagement.  

  
7.2 The Authority thanked officers for their work developing the strategy.  Members 

sought reassurance on the effectiveness of the Service’s communication with hard 
to reach groups, households & communities and how that would be improved.  There 
were various means of communicating with the public, including the website, social 
media, face-2-face, and each were under constant evaluation and 
improvement.  Every communication campaign was evaluated to ensure that it was 
improved, this allowed the team to focus on different channels and methods, the 
results of this were used to create the annual impact report which was presented to 
members.  The ESFRS website had a full translation service, at the click of a button 
users could select any one of 150 languages. 

  

Page 47



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 

 

7.3 Members were keen to know more about the Service’s social media reach and the 
training that was specific for them.  The Service was looking at ensuring the ESFRS 
online presence was valuable, informative & engaging.  It was a growth area and one 
of the key methods for getting messages to harder to reach communities.  Members 
were reminded that their input and ideas were always welcome on ways to increase 
how important information and safety messages reached all our communities.   The 
Fire Authority approved the Communications, Engagement and Consultation 
Strategy 2024-27.  

  
8 MAYFIELD OPTIONS APPRAISAL 
  
8.1 The Fire Authority the outcomes of the Mayfield Options Appraisal requested by the 

Authority at its meeting on 8 February 2024, which, if agreed, would be subject to 
formal public consultation.  Members had asked the Senior Leadership Team to 
present options for achieving permanent savings to balance the 2025/26 budget at 
the earliest opportunity, and it was for this reason that the options presented had 
been developed.  The Fire Authority had also made it clear that any of the options 
considered would need to assess the impact on both community risk and staff to 
inform their decision making and the report set these impacts out.  The Authority 
were being asked to choose which options would be subjected to a formal 
consultation process with staff, stakeholders and the public.  Members were not 
being asked to take a decision at this meeting, this would be taken, following a full 
public consultation, at their meeting on 5 December 2024.   

  
8.2 Members were reminded that the continuing one-year funding settlements made 

financial forecasting challenging, and greater emphasis needed to be placed on the 
efficient and effective management of risk and resources.  At the time of the request 
for an Options Appraisal the savings requirement for 2025/26 was anticipated to be 
£2.211m (mid-range) and it was considered essential to act urgently to identify 
savings options in order to balance the budget.  The Service engaged sector 
specialists Operational Research in Health Ltd (ORH) to ensure the review was 
robust and independent.  ORH modelling suggested that for any of the four options, 
the Service’s current attendance standards would continue to be met.  Their analysis 
also showed that Mayfield had the lowest activity on its station ground, with 103 
incidents over a two year period, with the Mayfield appliance itself being the first 
responding to 6 incidents in that same period, a level of activity that had remained 
consistent over the last decade.   

  

8.3 To inform the Options Appraisal a 14 week programme of pre-engagement activities 
had been undertaken with the local community, which had helped shape the 
development of the options and feedback received had been considered by SLT and 
informally by Members via seminars and briefing sessions.  This feedback was also 
being used to guide the Consultation process.  

  

8.4 The four options were set out at paragraph 1.6 of the report, it was noted that the 
costs referred to were based on the 2024/25 budget and were being provided to 
assist with the consultation, they would be revisited before the final decision was 
made.  The Options Appraisal provided detailed information relating to risk, financial 
and staff implications for each of the four options.  It provided information on local 
demographics, the previous analyses undertaken relating to Mayfield and 
surrounding rural communities, and detailed a number of wider social, economic and 
cross-directorate impact assessments.  Full details of all this information would be 
provided to the public, staff and stakeholders as part of the 12 week consultation 
period.   Page 48



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 

 

  

8.5 The Authority thanked officers for their hard work on producing the requested Options 
Appraisal, acknowledging it had been a difficult task.  There was a lengthy discussion 
on all the options presented.  Members asked for clarification on any potential impact 
on attendance times if Mayfield were removed, in that instance the “fire grounds” of 
surrounding stations would expand.  The work undertaken by ORH had concluded 
that the Service’s rural attendance standard of 15 minutes would still be achievable, 
and this locally set target remained more ambitious than the old National Standard 
for rural areas which was set at 20 minutes.  Members were reminded that it was not 
the case, as perhaps was believed, that the appliances at a Fire Station went only to 
their local areas.  ESFRS operated under dynamic mobilising, meaning that the 
appliance that was physically nearest at the time of an incident attended not 
necessarily that from the most local fire station; 93% of attendances in Mayfield were 
currently being attended by other fire appliances rather than the Mayfield based fire 
appliance.   

  

8.6 There was a discussion about ensuring attendance and incident information used to 
inform the consultation was as accurate as possible, Members were assured that this 
was always a focus and the data used in the Options Appraisal had been very 
carefully analysed and subject to external and independent scrutiny.  Continuing to 
do this would be an essential part of the process with any suggested data 
inaccuracies being fully explored and reported back on as demonstrated in the most 
recent IRMP process.   

  

8.7 Members raised some concerns regarding the proposals relating to redeployment of 
staff and how that might work in reality, particularly as they held on-call contracts.  
Under the current system it was possible for several of the on-call stations in the area 
to be off the run at the same time.  The intention was to look at a “hub” approach in 
order to improve the number of on-call appliances on the run, with staff joining a 
“flexible resource pool” and conversations on these ideas with staff at Mayfield had 
already started and would be furthered dependent on the decision of the Fire 
Authority in December.  The Authority was reminded that the pool approach allowed 
staff in the logistics team to forecast any staffing issues and move people around to 
address them.  Problems recruiting and retaining on-call staff was a national issue. 

  

8.8 The matters discussed at the meeting were exactly what the consultation was 
designed to explore through the varying options and input from residents, 
stakeholders and staff would be essential to ensure that locally based ideas were fed 
in so the Fire Authority could fully consider them as part of their decision making.  Cllr 
Osborne proposed, seconded by Cllr Shing, that with regards recommendation ii) in 
the report, the Fire Authority should agree to take all four options out to public 
consultation.  A recorded vote was held: 
For – 15 votes 
Against – 2 votes 
(one Member had already left the meeting) 

  

8.9 The Fire Authority instructed Officers to proceed to full consultation on all four options 
contained within the Options Appraisal document at Appendix 1 to the report; and 
noted that the consultation responses and the Service’s position on them would be 
presented to the Fire Authority at its meeting on 5 December 2024. 

  
9 MAYFIELD OPTIONS APPRAISAL – CONSULTATION & COMMUNICATIONS 

PLAN 
  Page 49



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 

 

9.1 The Fire Authority considered the communication and consultation plan for the 
Mayfield Options Appraisal, the Service had a robust process for consultation and 
communication developed through its Community Risk Management Planning 
(CRMP) arrangements.  These provided stakeholders, the public and staff with clear 
and relevant information as to how they can get involved in the decision-making 
arrangements of the Fire Authority.  These arrangements were set out in the 
Communication, Engagement and Consultation Strategy, and followed the Gunning 
principles which were the founding legal principles applicable to public consultation 
in the UK.   

  
9.2 The Service had sought guidance from the Consultation Institute in respect to its 

consultation arrangements and has engaged an external consultation specialist to 
develop the material.  The consultation period for the Mayfield Options Appraisal had 
been set at twelve weeks based on advice received, this was longer than the usual 
eight weeks as the period fell over the summer months thereby maximising the 
opportunity for people to respond.  As a result of the announcement of the UK 
Parliamentary General Election the Service intends to start the consultation on 
Friday, 5 July, closing on Friday, 27 September 2024.  The results would be 
considered by the Fire Authority at its meeting on 5 December 2024 

  
9.3 The consultation plan consisted of an online questionnaire, three public focus groups, 

an online stakeholder forum and a communication plan which set out how 
communities and groups would be engaged with.   Members asked whether any 
resident in the UK could respond to the online questionnaire, in the past there had 
been responses from across the country, but there was a section to request 
postcodes to allow for primacy to be given to responses from the Service 
area.  Members asked if there was the option for hard copy questionnaire responses 
to be made and if so how would people who were not online know about them.  There 
would be hard copies, the process for responses was comprehensive and well-
rehearsed particularly for advertising how to get involved, this included access to 
community noticeboards, through Parish Councils, and Fire Authority Members 
would each be issued with a pack containing leaflets and information as to how hard-
copy materials could be requested.  The Fire Authority approved the consultation and 
communication plan for the Mayfield Options Appraisal. 

  
COUNCILLOR AMANDA EVANS 
CHAIR OF EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 
 
13 June 2024 

 

Page 50


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 7 May 2024
	5 Report of the Cabinet
	7 Report of the Governance Committee
	9 Report of the East Sussex Fire Authority

